# Homebound Seniors' Experiences with Home-Based Oral Healthcare Services: A Qualitative Study

Grusha Ajay Akade

Master of Science, Dental Sciences

The Faculty of Dental Medicine and Oral Health Sciences

McGill University

Montreal, Quebec, Canada

April 2025

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfilment of the degree of

Master of Science

© Grusha Ajay Akade, 2025

# **DEDICATION**

To my parents, Ajay Akade and Sonal Akade, for their unwavering love and sacrifices that has shaped me into the person I am today.

To my uncle Samir Jariwala, whose support, guidance and encouragement has always inspired me to persevere.

To my beloved grandparents Alka Jariwala, Kantilal Jariwala and Chandrakant Akade, whose wisdom, blessings and unconditional support have been my foundation.

To my beloved father, whose love and guidance continues to inspire me even in his absence.

My family is my greatest source of strength and has been my driving force and I owe everything to them.

# **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I am truly grateful for the endless support and encouragement I have received from everyone in my life. Their steadfast beliefs in my abilities have played a crucial role in the completion of this Thesis.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Pascaline Kengne Talla, whose dedication, mentorship and tireless efforts have been invaluable on this journey. Dr. Talla's has always encouraged me to work hard and strive for better. Her unwavering patience and kindness have been a great source of comfort. Her guidance, constructive feedback and motivation has been the foundation of this thesis and for that I am truly grateful.

I am deeply grateful to Dr. Elham Emami's dedication and guidance as my co-supervisor, which has been crucial in my Master's. Her insightful feedback has been fundamental to the completion of this work. I am truly grateful for her time, efforts and unwavering support.

I would like to thank Dr. Alissa Levine, my thesis committee member, for her invaluable support, constructive feedback and mentorship throughout this master.

A heartfelt thanks to Crystal Noronha, Despoina Moirakidou, Alexander Vlaanderen and Chelsea Wang for their round the clock assistance, support and encouragement throughout this Master.

I would like to extend my gratitude to the Faculty of Dental Medicine and Oral Health Sciences at McGill University for providing me with the invaluable opportunity to pursue my research.

A special note of gratitude to my Mentors Dr. Rajendra Daule and Mr. Sachin Vaidya who encouraged me to take on this Master's and work hard to pursue my dreams.

I am also grateful to all my wonderful friends Zaneta D'Souza, Safae B. Lietefti, Veeresh Pavate, Anisha Rodrigues, Anushri Sharma, Mridul Sharma, Harsimran Singh Kapoor, Tejal Kathed and Pranali Mahajan for remaining by my side through every twist and turn and for their immense motivation.

My deepest gratitude to my mother-my best friend, my pillar, who has taken on the role of both father and mother for me now. She has been an unfailing source of strength through moments of stress and even my punching bag. I am forever grateful for her sacrifices, love and support.

Finally, I thank God for granting me the strength, resilience and grace to complete this journey.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	i
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	ii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iii
ABSTRACT	vi
RÉSUMÉ	viii
CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS	X
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xi
LIST OF TABLES	xii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	3
2.1 Ageing	3
2.1.1 Epidemiology	3
2.1.2 Definition	4
2.1.3 Healthy Ageing	5
2.2 Impacts of Aging on Oral health, General health and Well-being	6
2.3 Oral Health Status of Canadian seniors	8
2.4 Challenges Faced by Seniors in Accessing Oral Healthcare Facilities	8
2.5 Implementation Strategies to Promote Oral Healthcare Services Delivery for	or Geriatric
Population	10
2.5.1 Policy Dental Programs for Seniors in Canada	10
2.5.1.1 Governmental Dental Care Programs for Seniors in Canada	10
2.5.1.1.1 Canadian Dental Care Plan (CDCP)	10
2.5.1.1.2 Dental Care Programs Targeting Seniors in Quebec	11
2.5.1.1.2.1 Quebec CHSLD Dental Care and Daily Hygiene Program	11
2.5.1.1.2.2 Dental Care and Denture program in Quebec	11
2.5.1.1.3 Dental Care Programs in Ontario	12
2.5.1.1.4 Dental Care Programs in Alberta	12
2.5.1.1.4.1 Dental Assistance for Seniors Program in Alberta	12
2.5.1.1.4.2 AHS- Provincial Oral Health Action Plan in Alberta	12
2.5.1.1.5 Dental Care Programs in British Columbia	12

2.5.1.1.6 Dental Care Programs in Prince Edward Island	13
2.5.1.1.6.1 Long-Term/Community Care Preventive Dental Care Program	13
2.5.1.1.6.2 Provincial Dental Care Program	13
2.5.1.1.7 Dental Care Programs in Saskatchewan	13
2.5.2 University Dental Programs for Seniors	13
2.5.2.1 McGill University Mobile Dental	13
2.5.2.2 University of British Columbia (UBC) Geriatric Dentistry Program	14
2.5.2.3 University of Manitoba Home Dental Care Program	14
2.5.3 Integration of oral healthcare services in primary health care	14
2.5.3.1 Teledentistry	15
2.5.3.2 Mobile Dentistry	16
2.5.3.2.1 Home-based Oral Health Care Services	17
2.6 Patient Experiences with Home-based Oral Healthcare Services	19
2.6.1 Paradigm of Patient Experience	19
2.6.2 Patient Experience Definitions.	19
2.6.3 Benefits of Understanding Patient Experience	21
2.6.4 Patient Experience Theories and Frameworks	21
2.6.4.1 Patient and Human experience: The Beryl Institute	21
2.6.4.2 Warwick Patient Experience Framework	22
2.6.4.3 The National Health Service (NHS) Patient Experience Framework	22
2.6.4.4 Patient Experience Conceptual Framework by Patrick Oben	22
2.6.4.5 Patient Experience by Mayo Clinic	23
2.6.4.6 The 5P Holistic Framework of Patient Experience	23
2.6.5 Patient Experience in Quebec	23
2.6.6 Patient Experience in Dental Care Settings	24
2.6.7 Seniors' Experience in Home-based Oral Healthcare Services	24
2.7 Gaps in Knowledge and Need for Research	25
CHAPTER 3: STUDY OBJECTIVES AND RESEARCH QUESTION	27
CHAPTER 4: METHODOLOGY AND RESULTS: MANUSCRIPT	28
Manuscript: Homebound Senior's Experiences with Home-based Oral Healthcare Services	: A
Qualitative Study	29

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	49
5.1 Summary of Findings	49
5.2 Limitations of the Study	52
5.3 Strengths of the Study	52
5.4 Future Directions	53
5.4.1 Future Directions for Practice	53
5.4.2 Future Directions for Research	54
5.4.3 Future Directions for Policymakers	54
5.5 Knowledge Mobilization	55
CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION	56
CHAPTER 7: LIST OF REFERENCES	57
CHAPTER 8: APPENDICES	73
8.1 Appendix 1: Methodology	73
8.1.1 Study Design	73
8.1.2 Study Settings and Description of the "Dent Ma Maison" Pilot Project	73
8.1.3 Sampling and Participants	74
8.1.4 Data Collection	74
8.1.5 Data Analysis	75
8.1.6 Ethics	75
8.2 Appendix 2: Consent Forms	76
8.2.1 Consent Form for seniors	83
8.2.2 Consent Form for caregivers	84
8.3 Appendix 3: Sociodemographic Forms	87
8.3.1 Sociodemographic form for seniors	87
8.3.2 Sociodemographic form for caregivers	88
8.4 Appendix 4: Interview Guides	90
8.4.1 Interview guide for seniors	90
8.4.2 Interview guide for caregivers	91
8.5 Appendix 6: McGill University IRB Approval	92

# **ABSTRACT**

# **Background**

The demographic shift, with the growing rise of Canadians seniors, poses significant challenges for the healthcare system, which struggles to meet seniors' oral health needs. Yet, oral health is essential to seniors' overall health and healthy aging. This neglect has led to persistent disparities in access to oral healthcare among seniors, exacerbated by complex and multilevel barriers stemming from personal, organizational, and systemic factors. To address this gap, the integration of oral health care into primary care using portable equipment has emerged as a promising alternative to enhance access to care. Based on this knowledge, an interdisciplinary team implemented the home-based oral healthcare project called "Dent Ma Maison" (DMM). However, the perspectives of homebound seniors with DMM are still underexplored, limiting the evidence on its ability to meet their needs and to align with their realities.

# **Objectives**

- 1. To understand the perceptions and perspectives of homebound seniors with home-based oral healthcare services.
- 2. To identify potential areas for improvement in the delivery of home-based oral healthcare services for homebound seniors.
- 3. To build on both previous objectives, we will develop recommendations to inform the spread of home-based oral healthcare services in Quebec.

# Methodology

A qualitative design with an interpretive description methodology was conducted to generate findings that can inform clinical practice and decision making. A purposive sampling strategy was used to select "information-rich" patients. The study participants who received oral healthcare services under the Dent Ma Maison project were invited to participate in the study if they met the inclusion criteria. The informal caregivers of seniors with severe cognitive impairments served as proxies for the interviews. The study participants were required to communicate in French or English. Data was collected using semi-structured, telephonic, individual and dyadic interviews between June 2023 and November 2023, as well as a sociodemographic questionnaire. Each interview lasted up to 45 minutes. Data collection and analysis were conducted simultaneously

and continued until saturation was achieved. Data were analyzed using descriptive and thematic data approaches. The Standards for Reporting Qualitative Research (SRQR) criteria for reporting qualitative studies have been followed.

#### **Results**

A total of eleven interviews (8 Female, 3 Male, mean age: 69.5 years) were conducted. For seniors with severe cognitive impairments, their informal caregivers (n = 6) served as their proxies for the interviews. From the pool of participants, there were English speaking individuals (n = 6) and French speaking individuals (n = 5). The study had participants from indigenous and visible minority (n = 7). Three overarching were reported as follows: oral healthcare hurdles faced by seniors, appreciation for home-based oral healthcare services, and enhancing home-based oral healthcare. All the participants expressed a positive experience with the services they received in their living environment. Additionally, they provided recommendations for the scale up of home-based oral healthcare in other regions of Quebec.

### Conclusion

The findings highlighted the feasibility and the relevance of home-based oral healthcare in overcoming barriers faced by homebound seniors in accessing oral health care. The study participants' positive feedback, as well as their insights on key areas of improvement are valuable to inform clinicians and decision-makers in the implementation and the spread of this innovative care model to better address the specific oral health needs of homebound seniors. Our findings provide insights into strategies to address the unmet oral healthcare needs of individuals with cognitive impairments and/or reduced mobility, who are unable to visit private dental offices, an issue that has yet to be considered in the Canadian Dental Care Plan (CDCP).

# **RÉSUMÉ**

### Contexte

Le changement démographique, avec l'augmentation accélérée du nombre d'aînés au Canada, pose des défis importants au système de santé, qui peinent à répondre aux besoins des aînés en matière de santé buccodentaire. Pourtant, la santé buccodentaire est essentielle à la santé générale des aînés et au vieillissement en santé. Cette négligence a entraîné des disparités persistantes en matière d'accès aux soins buccodentaires chez les personnes âgées, exacerbées par des obstacles complexes et multiniveaux découlant de facteurs personnels, organisationnels et systémiques. Pour combler cette lacune, l'intégration des soins buccodentaires dans les soins primaires à l'aide d'équipements portatifs est apparue comme une alternative prometteuse pour améliorer l'accès aux soins. S'appuyant sur ces connaissances, une équipe interdisciplinaire a mis en œuvre le projet de soins buccodentaires à domicile appelé Dent Ma Maison (DMM). Cependant, les perspectives des aînés confinés à domicile à l'égard de la DMM sont encore sous-explorées, ce qui limite les données probantes sur sa capacité à répondre à leurs besoins et à s'aligner sur leurs réalités.

# **Objectif**

- 1. Comprendre les perceptions et les perspectives des aînés confinés à domicile qui ont reçu des soins et services de santé buccodentaire à domicile.
- 2. Déterminer les pistes potentielles d'amélioration dans la prestation des soins et services de santé buccodentaire à domicile chez les aînés confinés à domicile.
- 3. Prenant appui sur les deux objectifs précédents, nous élaborerons des recommandations pour éclairer la mise à l'échelle des soins et services de santé buccodentaire à domicile au Québec.

# Méthodologie

Une étude qualitative avec une méthodologie descriptive interprétative a été réalisé pour générer des résultats qui peuvent éclairer la pratique clinique et la prise de décisions. Une stratégie d'échantillonnage intentionnel a été privilégie pour la sélection des participants « riches en information ». Les participants à l'étude qui ont reçu des soins et services de santé buccodentaire dans le cadre du projet Dent Ma Maison ont été invités à participer à l'étude, s'ils répondaient aux critères d'inclusion. Les proches-aidants des aînés ayant des troubles cognitifs graves ont servi de substituts pour les entrevues. Les participants à l'étude devaient être capables de communiquer en français ou en anglais. Les données ont été recueillies à l'aide d'entrevues semi-structurées,

téléphoniques, individuelles et dyadiques entre les mois de juin et novembre 2023, ainsi que d'un questionnaire sociodémographique. Chaque entrevue a duré jusqu'à 45 minutes. La collecte et l'analyse des données ont été menées simultanément et se sont poursuivies jusqu'à ce que la saturation soit atteinte. Les données ont été analysées à l'aide d'approches descriptives et thématiques. L'étude a été présentée en suivant les critères de rigueur les lignes directrices SRQR (Standards for Reporting Qualitative Research) pour la présentation des études qualitatives.

### Résultats

Au total, onze entrevues (8 femmes, 3 hommes, âge moyen : 69,5 ans) ont été menées. Pour les aînés ayant des troubles cognitifs graves, leurs proches-aidants (n = 6) ont servi de substituts pour les entrevues. Parmi les participants, il y avait des personnes anglophones (n = 6) et des personnes francophones (n = 5). De plus, certains participants se sont auto-déclarées comme des personnes issues des communautés autochtones et de minorités visibles (n = 7). Trois thèmes généraux ont été identifiés comme suit : les obstacles en matière de santé buccodentaire auxquels font face les aînés, l'appréciation des soins et services buccodentaires à domicile, et les pistes d'amélioration des soins et services buccodentaires à domicile. Tous les participants ont exprimé une expérience positive avec les soins et services qu'ils ont reçus dans leur milieu de vie. De plus, ils ont formulé des recommandations pour l'expansion du projet de soins et services buccodentaires à domicile dans d'autres régions du Québec.

### Conclusion

Les résultats ont mis en évidence la faisabilité et la valeur des soins buccodentaires à domicile pour surmonter les obstacles des aînés confinés à domicile avec l'accès aux soins buccodentaires. Les commentaires positifs des participants à l'étude, ainsi que leurs perspectives des pistes d'amélioration, peuvent éclairer les cliniciens et les décideurs pour la mise en œuvre et la mise à l'échelle de ce modèle novateur de soins, afin de mieux répondre aux besoins uniques en matière d'accès aux soins buccodentaires des aînés confinés à domicile. Nos résultats apportent un éclairage sur les stratégies visant à combler les besoins non`comblés en matière d'accès aux soins et services buccodentaires des personnes ayant des troubles cognitifs et/ou une mobilité réduite, et qui ne peuvent pas accéder aux cliniques dentaires privés, une question qui doit être prise en compte dans le Régime canadien de soins dentaires (RCSD).

# **CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS**

**Grusha A. Akade,** MSc. Candidate, Faculty of Dental Medicine and Oral Health Sciences, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada: carried out interviews, conducted data analysis, interpreted findings and wrote manuscript and thesis.

**Dr. Pascaline Kengne Talla,** Assistant Professor, Faculty of Dental Medicine and Oral Health Sciences, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada: Primary supervisor of the candidate, conceptualized the study, contributed to data collection, data analysis, data interpretation and writing.

**Dr. Elham Emami,** Professor, Faculty of Dental Medicine and Oral Health Sciences, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada: Co-supervisor of the candidate, conceptualized the study, contributed to data analysis, data interpretation and writing.

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- AHRQ: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality
- AHS: Alberta Health Services
- CCOMTL: Integrated University Health and Social Services Centre West-Central Montreal
- CCSMTL: Integrated University Health and Social Services Centre South-Central Montreal
- CDCP: Canadian Dental Care Plan
- CHMS: Canadian Health Measures Survey
- CHSLD: Centre d'hébergement et de Soins de Longue Durée
- COHS: Canadian Oral Health Survey
- DDC: Domiciliary Dental Care
- DMFT: Decayed, Missing and Filled Teeth index
- DMM: Dent Ma Maison
- HA: Healthy Ageing
- HCAHPS: Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems
- HBOHC: Home-based Oral Health Care
- LTCF: Long Term Care Facilities
- NHS: National Health Service
- OHRQoL: Oral Health Related Quality of Life
- OSDCP: Ontario Seniors Dental Care Program
- POHC: Primary Oral Healthcare Approach
- PX : Patient Experience
- PREMS: Patient Reported Experience Measures
- PQSBSH: Programme Québécois de Soins Buccodentaires et de Soins D'hygiène quotidiens de la bouche en CHSLD
- SHA: Saskatchewan Health Authority
- WHO: World Health Organization

# LIST OF TABLES

# For Manuscript:

Table 1: Sociodemographic characteristics of participants

# **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

Over decades there has been a global rise in the aging population, of key relevance to the issue of healthy aging. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), in 2019, the number of people aged 60 years and older was 1 billion. This population is expected to rise to to 2.1 billion, 22% of the global population by 2050. This demographic shift presents unprecedented social and economic challenges to the society, putting significant pressure on healthcare systems that are unable to cater to the healthcare needs of the aging population, including oral health needs.

Oral health is essential to seniors' overall health and healthy aging.<sup>4, 5</sup> Studies have shown that seniors are living longer and retaining more of their natural teeth.<sup>6</sup> The change could bring important benefits in terms of nutrition and general wellbeing, but it could also bring with it a great deal of dental diseases and the need for complex care. However, disparities in oral health outcomes and access to oral healthcare are more pronounced among seniors compared to other population subgroups. 8 Depending on their living arrangements, whether at home or in long-term care facilities, seniors face significant oral healthcare disparities due to complex and multilevel barriers stemming from personal, organizational, and systemic factors. 9-12 For instance, physical and cognitive conditions, low perceived value of oral health, 9, 12 healthcare providers' attitudes toward oral health, 11 shortage of qualified dental professionals, 11 uneven geographical distribution; 10 unattractive compensation models, 10 and ageism 11 influence their equitable access to care. Common oral health diseases and conditions such as root caries, periodontal conditions, partial tooth loss, and dry mouth complexify the existing chronic diseases and comorbidities, affecting their quality of life and wellbeing. 13 Poor oral health outcomes have impacts as avoidable adverse events and hospitalizations, as well as increased costs that negatively impact the sustainability of healthcare systems. 13, 14 As a result, it is crucial to develop and implement innovative solutions to strengthen healthcare delivery systems for patient-centered care<sup>3, 15</sup> and to achieve the quintuple aim: enhancing patient experience, improving population health, reducing costs, promoting workforce wellbeing, and advancing health equity. 16

Effective and efficient care for seniors requires integration oral health into primary care, along with the contribution of multidisciplinary stakeholders as members of community organizations, decision makers, patients' partners, clinicians and caregivers.<sup>3, 14</sup> With the growing focus on

"healthy aging" and "aging at home," an equitable oral health system integrating the delivery of oral health in the living environment represents the future of dental practice for seniors. 19, 20 This alterative model of care offers a promising approach to ensuring timely, person-centered oral healthcare by delivering the right services to the right individuals, at the right time and place, by the appropriate healthcare professional. 4, 21

In partnership with an interdisciplinary team of policymakers and decision makers, a research team from the McGill University Faculty of Dental Medicine and Oral Health Sciences has developed and implemented home oral healthcare services in two Quebec health institutions. This integrated oral healthcare project, called "Dent Ma Maison" (DMM), offered free of charge preventive and curative oral care services to seniors over 65 years with loss of autonomy in their living environment.

Despite the anticipated benefits of this innovative project in terms of access and continuity of care, along with their wellbeing, it remains unclear whether and how home-based oral healthcare is respectful of and responsive to seniors' needs, realities and values. Therefore, the project aims to understand the experiences of homebound seniors with the Dent Ma Maison Project.

.

# **CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW**

# 2.1 Aging

# 2.1.1 Epidemiology

The population of Canadians aged 65 years and older has been increasing from to 6.6 million (17.5%) in 2019 to 7.8 million (18.9%) in 2024.<sup>22, 23</sup> By 2040, this number is projected to reach 10.7 million, which will be approximately 25% of the total population.<sup>22</sup> Among seniors, people aged 85 years and over totalized 0.9 million, representing 2.4% of the total Canadian population in 2021.<sup>24</sup> This proportion is expected to triple in the next 25 years to comprise 2.5 million people in 2046.<sup>24</sup>

Canadian seniors are a diverse population group.<sup>22</sup> The proportion of females is seen to be higher in all the age groups above 65 years (65–74 years, 75–84 years, above 85 years).<sup>22, 24</sup> In 2017–2018, the percentage of seniors from different ethnic and cultural backgrounds were about 12.3% (East and South Asians, Arabs, Blacks, Latin Americans).<sup>22</sup> Almost one third (28.5%) of seniors were reported to be landed immigrants.<sup>22</sup> Approximately 1.9% of seniors are self-identified as Indigenous, including First Nations, Metis or Inuit.<sup>22</sup> Regarding living conditions, most Canadian seniors (92.1%) resided in private dwellings;<sup>22</sup> and among this cohort, 27.9% lived alone, while 72.1% lived with their partners, children or relatives.<sup>22</sup>

Many Canadian seniors were seen to be experiencing chronic diseases, with 37% of them having at least two of the top ten most common chronic diseases such as hypertension (83.4%) and osteoarthritis (54%).<sup>22</sup> More than half of seniors (52%) were affected with moderate to severe periodontal diseases.<sup>25</sup> The common reasons for disabilities among seniors aged 65 and older were issues related to pain (68%), mobility (63%), and flexibility (59%).<sup>26</sup>

In Quebec, the population of seniors aged 65 years and over has increased from 7% in 1971 to 20.2% in 2021, reaching 1.75 million.<sup>27,28</sup> This number is projected to rise to 2.2 million (26%) in 2031.<sup>27</sup> According to Statistics Canada, Quebec has a higher percentage of seniors (85+) compared to other provinces.<sup>24</sup> Similar to the national level, the percentage of female seniors was higher than male seniors,<sup>29</sup> and increased with age from 51% for 65–74 years, to 64% for those aged 85 and older.<sup>29</sup> Regarding sexual orientation, 1.1% of seniors aged 65 and older in Quebec identified as homosexual and 1.1% as bisexual in 2021.<sup>29</sup> The percentage of senior immigrants increased from

11% in 2006 to 15% in 2021, with further growth expected.<sup>29</sup> The visible minority senior population, including Black, Arab, and Latin American individuals, were 6.1% of the total in Quebec.<sup>29</sup>

Regarding chronic diseases, 75% of seniors above 65 years suffered from at least one chronic disease in 2017–2018.<sup>29</sup> Women were seen to be more likely to have a chronic disease than men.<sup>29</sup> In 2021, 91% of seniors aged 65 and older lived in private households,<sup>29</sup> varying with the age (91% for seniors aged 65–74 years versus 62% for those aged 85 and older)<sup>29</sup>. Seniors in private households lived with partners (54%) or alone (28%).<sup>29</sup> Nearly one quarter (38%) of seniors aged 85 and older resided in collective housing such as long-term care facilities and intermediary residences.<sup>29</sup> In 2015–2016 about 14% of seniors received home services (e.g. nursing, help with medical equipment).<sup>29</sup>

# 2.1.2 Definition

Aging is a complex and multidimensional concept, yet there is a lack of consensus in the literature on its precise definition and ways of its measurement, as well as a comprehensive theory of aging.<sup>30, 31</sup> Authors have based their definitions on social, behavioral, physiological, morphological, cellular and molecular changes,<sup>30</sup> as a feature of the human experience.<sup>32</sup> Moreover, aging definitions vary across diverse specialties, undoubtedly contributing to the confusion.<sup>33</sup> In addition, different terminologies are used to describe this aging population (e.g., seniors, older adults, seniors, the aged, older patients, older individuals, etc.).<sup>34</sup>

Despite the relevance of these conceptualizations, the nuances of aging are beyond the scope of this master's thesis. We will adopt the terminology of *seniors* across the thesis.

The conceptualization of aging has gained importance in recent years. Authors have reported its interconnection with the concepts of frailty and age.<sup>35, 36</sup> The first debate on "Age" and "Aging" was published in 1972.<sup>37</sup>

While age is often defined as the "chronological number of years a person has lived,"<sup>38</sup> it has been conceptualized in multiple ways. (1) Chronological age is the most commonly used definition, referring to "passage of time from birth onwards".<sup>30</sup> Over the past century, chronological age has become attached to institutionalized practices and societal norms, reinforcing the notion that aging

is a social construct.<sup>30</sup> (2) Biological age refers to the "presence or absence of pathological processes", and it considers development of diseases as a normal part of aging.<sup>30</sup> (3) Sociological age refers to "expectations of altered roles for individuals within society" <sup>30</sup> and accordingly, alters roles as age advances. Age-related diseases, however, are multifactorial and often interconnected, resulting from a complex interplay of various determinants.<sup>39</sup>

Frailty is a multifaceted concept associated with aging.<sup>32, 38</sup> It is characterized by the decline in overall physiological function and an increased vulnerability to illness with age.<sup>35, 36</sup> This biophysiological disorder affects many activities of daily living, leading to adverse health-related events such as falls, injuries, disability, hospitalization, institutionalization, and dementia.<sup>38</sup> The concept of "oral frailty" has emerged in recent years with the term "oral hypofunction" applied to the oral manifestations of aging-associated sarcopenia and dry mouth.<sup>40</sup> It suggests an abnormal oral structure and/or decline in multifaceted oral function, accompanied by decline in physical, cognitive and social functions.<sup>41</sup> However, adequate oral functioning is considerably broader than the biomedical notions which have largely predominated to date, underscoring the relevance of the life-course lens to better understand aging and oral health.<sup>42</sup> Oral health in old age refers to any adaptation to the burden of oral diseases, accumulated over the years, meaning the ability to chew, taste, and enjoy food, and to smile and speak comfortably and without social embarrassment.<sup>32</sup>

Aging is associated with the increased risk of chronic diseases and cognitive decline over time, presenting unique challenges in daily activities.<sup>39, 43</sup> Gilbert (2000) has defined it as "time-related deterioration of the physiological functions necessary for survival and fertility".<sup>44</sup> Aging is a dynamic "time-related" process <sup>33</sup> referring to biological, psychological and social processes that promote gradual decline in functional capacity of an individual over time.<sup>30, 45</sup> Two people of the same age might experience aging differently, as it is a highly individualized process, differentiated by physical and cognitive function and comorbidities,<sup>38</sup> underscoring the relevance of various perspectives on aging.

# 2.1.3 Healthy Aging

Healthy aging (HA) is complex, multidimensional, and heterogeneous,<sup>46</sup> and forms a central pillar of healthcare systems worldwide.<sup>17</sup> It is interchangeably used with other terms and concepts such as active, well-adjusted, graceful, healthy, sustainable, positive, productive, resilient, optimal, and

successful aging.<sup>46</sup> For instance, in 2002, HA replaced "active aging" adopted by the WHO in the late 1990s, defined as "participation of older persons in activities that contribute to their quality of life and well-being".<sup>47, 48</sup>

HA in literature has been defined by two approaches used in combination or separately. 46 Firstly, it is conceptualized throughout health outcomes across cognitive, physical, social, and psychological dimensions, primarily characterized by the absence of disease and disability at the individual level.<sup>49</sup> Secondly, it refers to developmental adaptation processes involving lifelong, dynamic interactions between a person and their environment in response to changes associated with aging across various dimensions.<sup>49</sup> According to the WHO, HA refers to "maintaining a functional ability that enables individuals to meet their needs and contribute to society within their environment". 46, 48The WHO has adopted the plan for a Decade of Healthy Aging 2021–2030, focusing on seniors and encouraging governments, civil society, international agencies, professionals, academia, the media and the private sector to improve the lives of older people, their families and their communities.<sup>17</sup> The Decade of Healthy Aging 2021–2030 is based on human rights and a global strategy and action plan on aging and health (2016–2030).<sup>17</sup> This approach aligns with the Sustainable Development Goals' vision to leave no one behind, following the principles of the Global Campaign to Combat Ageism, 50 while recognizing disparities in longevity and unique challenges that seniors face in accessing essential care, obstacles that prevent their full participation in society. 49 These difficulties are exacerbated for older people living in settings with limited resources. <sup>49</sup> To foster healthy aging and to improve the lives of older people, their families, and communities, the WHO recommends a shift from viewing healthy aging as the absence of disease to an approach fostering the functional ability that enables older people to be and to do what they value.<sup>17</sup> Actions to improve healthy aging will be needed at multiple levels and in multiple sectors to prevent disease, promote health, maintain intrinsic capacity and enable functional ability.<sup>17</sup>

# 2.2 Impacts of Aging on Oral Health, General Health and Wellbeing

With increasing life expectancy, seniors are retaining their natural teeth longer, but the prevalence and the incidence of oral diseases remains high.<sup>51</sup> Root caries, periodontal disease, fractured teeth, periodontal diseases, untreated dental abscesses, extensive tartar buildup, tooth mobility, tooth

loss, dental caries, periodontitis, dry mouth and oral pre-cancer/cancer are prevalent among this population. <sup>52, 53</sup> Complementing this disease-related focus is the notion of oral-health-related quality of life (OHRQoL), that may be poorer among seniors who wear dentures, have higher numbers of missing teeth or decayed teeth, or have dry mouth. <sup>53</sup> Poor dentition and unstable dentures can lead to poor nutrition and a decline in overall health and quality of life. <sup>54</sup> In addition, the maintenance of oral health is often challenging due to cognitive impairments, reduced saliva production (often medication-induced), and a lack of cooperation, all of them leading to the incidence of oral health diseases. <sup>55</sup> Oral frailty refers to a change in various oral health functions and conditions (e.g., number of teeth, poor oral hygiene, difficulty chewing or swallowing, etc.), causing an increased vulnerability to other oral health diseases. <sup>40, 41</sup>

Aging increases the likelihood of developing multiple chronic conditions, comorbidities and increased polymedications due to progressive physiological loss and increased susceptibility to diseases.<sup>2, 56</sup> Age-associated complex multimorbidities can affect a person's oral health.<sup>57, 56</sup> In addition, geriatric syndromes present common conditions for seniors as delirium, falls, incontinence and frailty, influencing functional ability and impacting their overall wellbeing. 36,58 Chronic conditions such as diabetes, hypertension, kidney disease, and cardiovascular diseases often have oral manifestations including periodontitis, caries, dry mouth, and candidiasis. <sup>59,60</sup> They often necessitate polypharmacy, with many medications increasing the risk of xerostomia and the susceptibility for dental caries and periodontitis. 59, 60 Medications taken for chronic conditions can have a significant impact on oral health.<sup>58</sup> For instance, the medications used to treat rheumatoid arthritis increase the risk of periodontitis, ultimately leading to tooth loss and edentulism. <sup>59, 61</sup> Evidence indicates a bidirectional association of systemic noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) with oral health diseases that may complicate seniors' overall health and quality of life. 59, 62 Also, cognitive decline impairs seniors' ability to communicate their oral health needs, and the loss of independence hampers their ability to perform certain tasks such as brushing teeth and cleaning dentures; these factors contribute to a rapid deterioration in dental and overall health of seniors. 52, <sup>55, 63</sup> Poor oral health worsens management of chronic diseases by altering the immune system and increasing inflammation. 41,60

# 2.3 Oral Health Status of Canadian Seniors

In Canada, the oral health status of seniors experiencing loss of autonomy, particularly those living at home, is poorly documented but often severely compromised.<sup>64</sup> Several national empirical studies reported disparities in oral health status and access to oral healthcare services for seniors.<sup>63</sup>, <sup>65</sup> According to the oral health component in the CHMS survey conducted in 2007–2009, the mean od teeth decay, missing, filled (DMFT) of people above the age of 60 years in Canada was 15.67.<sup>66</sup> In 2019, about half (52.0%) of seniors aged 65–79 years have moderate to severe periodontal diseases.<sup>22</sup> More recently, results from the Canadian Oral Health Survey (COHS) (2024) highlighted that approximately 11% of adults aged 60 years and above were completely edentulous.<sup>67</sup> The prevalence of complete edentulism in seniors aged 65–79 years is significantly higher among disabled seniors (16%), compared to those without disability (10%). <sup>26</sup> One third of seniors reported experiencing persistent oral health problems, including mouth pain and avoiding certain foods because of these issues.<sup>67</sup>

The oral health status of seniors in Quebec is concerning.<sup>28</sup> The province has the highest percentage of people wearing prosthesis.<sup>28</sup> About 25.2% of seniors above 65 years in Quebec were edentulous in 2020–2021.<sup>28</sup> Among these seniors there is not much difference in edentulism in males (23.3%) and females (26.9%).<sup>28</sup> Seniors aged 85 and older had a higher rate of edentulism (46.8%) compared to those aged 75–84 (31%) and 65–74 (19.1%).<sup>28</sup> The percentage of edentulism seems to be decreasing in this age group of 85 years and over from 39.6% in 2008 to 25.2% in 2020–2021.<sup>28</sup> Approximately 33.5% of seniors aged 65 and older perceived their oral health as good, while 16.4% viewed it as poor.<sup>28</sup>

# 2.4 Challenges Faced by Seniors in Accessing Oral Healthcare Facilities

Several studies have reported significant disparities in access to oral health by seniors. <sup>68, 12, 69, 70</sup> As of February 2025, 3,329,199 people have been approved to receive dental services through the Canadian Dental Care Plan (CDCP). <sup>71</sup> Of these, 1,503,195 received care across all provinces, and in Quebec, 481,264 approved individuals received dental services. <sup>71</sup> However, a significant portion (56.3%) of Canadian seniors reported not visiting a dentist because they deemed it unnecessary, according to the latest Statistics Canada reports in 2024; <sup>65</sup> and 20.9% of Quebec seniors above 65 years had not visited a dental professional within the past 12 months. <sup>72</sup>

Multilevel and complex factors ranging from personal and organisational to policy levels hinder seniors' access to oral healthcare. 10, 12, 68 Among personal factors, low oral health literacy and negative attitudes toward seeking oral care play a significant role. 12, 63 The lack of perceived need for dental visits and the misconception that tooth loss is an inevitable part of aging may lead individuals to seek oral healthcare only in cases of pain or emergency. 10, 68 Past dental experiences and interactions with the dentist, and previous difficulties faced in accessing dental clinics, contribute to fear and dental anxiety amongst seniors.<sup>73</sup> Significant gender differences appear in the perceived need for oral healthcare, with senior women often demonstrating a greater desire to preserve and maintain their teeth, which influences their utilization of dental services.<sup>74</sup> Physical impairments make seniors depend on adapted transports, increasing the existing barriers in access to oral health. 74-76 Among organizational factors, the shortage of specialized dental professionals with knowledge and experience in geriatric care<sup>11, 77</sup> and the quality of the patient-dentist relationship are often important barriers to accessing oral health for seniors.<sup>68</sup> A lack of understanding of patient needs, poor communication and the approach of dentists while dealing with seniors can severely impact their access to care. 10, 63 Ageism and negative attitudes among some dentists toward seniors with special needs create additional barriers to receiving proper care.<sup>77, 78</sup> Limited coordination between multidisciplinary or interdisciplinary teams further complicates the delivery of comprehensive oral healthcare. 10, 12, 52 Systemic factors that contribute to increasing oral health inequalities for seniors include private dentistry practices and the high cost of dental treatments. 70, 75, 79 Additionally, inaccessible infrastructure and extended travel distances pose substantial obstacles for seniors seeking oral healthcare. 64, 80 Furthermore, many private dental clinics are not adequately equipped to accommodate individuals with mobility impairments.<sup>69</sup> For instance, narrow doorways, the absence of ramps, and inaccessible dental chairs further exacerbate these challenges, often requiring seniors to rely on assistance or avoid seeking care altogether. 9, 64, 69 Additionally, prolonged wait times in the clinics can be physically and mentally exhausting, particularly for those with chronic pain, cognitive impairments, or other health conditions that make extended periods of waiting uncomfortable or distressing. 70, 80 The high prevalence of oral diseases among seniors underscores the need for prevention and early detection with an interdisciplinary team involving dental and non-dental healthcare providers, to overcome barriers and leverage facilitators to improve patients' quality of life, oral health outcomes and experiences.<sup>52</sup>

# 2.5 Implementation Strategies to Promote Oral Healthcare Services Delivery for the Geriatric Population

Various initiatives differing from traditional pathways (e.g., private dental practices) have been implemented to overcome seniors' needs in oral healthcare, to respond to their aspirations to "Age at home" and to achieve universal health coverage. The WHO Global Oral Health Action Plan 2023–2030 urges countries to implement strategies enabling individuals and communities to enjoy the highest attainable state of oral health, thereby contributing to healthy and productive lives. Thus, developing national policies to promote oral health and strengthening efforts to integrate oral health into universal health coverage are reported as effective and promising solutions.

# 2.5.1 Policy Dental Programs for Seniors in Canada

# 2.5.1.1 Governmental Dental Care Programs for Seniors in Canada

In Canada, dental programs for seniors vary across provinces, which offer a range of dental services. After the presentation of the federal dental program, the next sections will present available provincial programs for seniors' oral healthcare (Quebec, Ontario, Alberta, British Columbia, and Prince Edward Island).

# 2.5.1.1.1 Canadian Dental Care Plan (CDCP)

The Canadian Dental Care Plan is a government initiative designed to improve the affordability of dental services for specific subgroups without private dental insurance and with an adjusted family net income of less than \$90,000. \*\*Launched in May 2024, the program is initially covering seniors adults with disabilities, and children under 18 years, but by 2025, all remaining eligible Canadians will be included. \*\*S\*\* Covered services include diagnostics, preventive care, restorations, endodontics, periodontal treatments, removable prosthetics, oral surgery, anaesthesia and sedation, and orthodontic services \*\*A\*\*. However, some dental services like crowns and prosthetic removal services require a pre-authorization by the CDCP, while other services such as fixed tooth replacements (e.g., implants, bridges) are not covered. Eligible providers include dentists, denturists, dental hygienists, dental specialists, and dental schools. \*\*A\*\* Only registered oral health providers can bill and receive reimbursement for covered services. \*\*A\*\* The impacts of CDCP will not only improve oral health but also have a significant impact on overall wellbeing and other

systemic diseases. There is not an overlap between services covered in the CDCP and the provincial program. In Quebec, the dental services that are already covered by the Régie de l'assurance-maladie du Québec (RAMQ) will not be reimbursed by the CDCP.<sup>87</sup> However, CDCP may cover for services that RAMQ does not provide.<sup>87</sup> For dental services covered by RAMQ, the providers will have to bill RAMQ first, while non-covered services can be claimed through CDCP, which only pays for services after the patient's CDCP coverage start date <sup>86</sup> or from the program's coverage date.<sup>87</sup>

# 2.5.1.1.2 Dental Care Programs Targeting Seniors in Quebec

2.5.1.1.2.1 Quebec CHSLD Dental Care and Daily Hygiene Program / Programme Québécois de soins buccodentaires et de soins d'hygiène quotidiens de la bouche en CHSLD (PQSBSH)

Implemented in 2019, the PQSBHB aims to improve and maintain the dental health of seniors living in residential and long-term care facilities (LTCFs) by ensuring that they have good oral hygiene, no untreated pain or oral disease, and eat painlessly and enjoy eating. It is a patient-centered care program provided in residents' rooms or a dedicated room using portable equipment. Examinations, oral evaluations, daily oral health hygiene, prophylaxis and preventive care are provided free of charge by dentists, denturists, dental hygienists, nurses and nurse assistants. Quebec residents annually receive \$1000 for dental coverage under the Oral Health Care Program, and any costs for curative and prosthetics care exceeding this amount have to be paid by seniors based on their financial situation. 89

# 2.5.1.1.2.2 Dental Care and Denture program in Quebec

This program provides free dental care, including denture fabrication, to individuals on social assistance or the Social Solidarity Program for 12–24 months. These financial assistance programs are provided for single adults or those without severely limited capacity for employment, meaning they do not face serious health problems that restrict their ability to work. To qualify, individuals must have had a valid claim slip for at least 24 consecutive months between March 16 and September 1, 2020, and have received specific denture services between June 1, 2020, and October 26, 2021.

# 2.5.1.1.3 Dental Care Programs in Ontario: Ontario Seniors Dental Care Program (OSDCP)

Implemented in 2019, the OSDCP offers free dental services to Ontario senior aged 65 years and over. 91 The eligibility criteria include having an income of \$25,000 for single people or \$41,500 for couples, and receiving no dental benefits through private or government insurance. 91 Dental examinations, preventive care, restorative procedures, endodontic treatments and periodontal services are the covered services. 91 Prosthetics are partially covered under this program. 91 Limited information is provided on the availability of these services at home or in LTCF's. 91

# 2.5.1.1.4 Dental Care Programs in Alberta

# 2.5.1.1.4.1 Dental Assistance for Seniors Program in Alberta

Introduced in 1973, this program provides a financial support up to \$5000 every five years for basic dental services to seniors aged 65 years and older. <sup>92</sup> Covered services in this program include: dental check-ups, cleanings, restorations, extractions, endodontics services and basic dentures. <sup>92</sup> Dental check-ups, cleanings, restorations, extractions, endodontics services and basic dentures are among the provided services. <sup>92</sup> Limited information is provided on availability of these services at home or in long-term care facilities. <sup>92</sup>

# 2.5.1.1.4.2 AHS- Provincial Oral Health Action Plan in Alberta

This plan aims to provide dental treatments to the low-income and underserved population of the province such as children, adults and seniors. <sup>93</sup> This program provides residents with oral hygiene twice a day and other dental services are provided free of charge. <sup>93</sup>

# 2.5.1.1.5 Dental Care Programs in British Columbia: Coverage by the Government of British Columbia

Individuals are eligible to receive dental coverage up to \$1000 for two calendar years. <sup>94</sup> The eligibility criteria for getting this coverage are that individuals must receive disability assistance and be qualified as a person with multiple barriers. <sup>94</sup> No information has been made available on the age criteria to receive these . <sup>94</sup> The financial coverage is provided for services like restorations, extractions, preventive services, partial dentures, denture replacements, and relining of dentures.

# 2.5.1.1.6 Dental Care Programs in Prince Edward Island

# 2.5.1.1.6.1 Long-Term/Community Care Preventive Dental Care Program in Prince Edward Island

This program provides annual dental screenings for seniors of LTCF's. <sup>95</sup> Dentists conduct oral assessments and offer services focused on relieving pain and infection. Prophylactic services are provided by a dental hygienist. <sup>95</sup> For extensive curative treatments, seniors are referred to dental offices. <sup>95</sup>

# 2.5.1.1.6.2 Provincial Dental Care Program

The Dental Care Program in Prince Edward Island offers subsidized basic dental treatment for low-income individuals and families. <sup>96</sup> To qualify, applicants must be residents of PEI, have an active PEI Health Card, and meet specific income criteria or be receiving financial assistance from the Department of Social Development and Housing. <sup>96</sup> The level of coverage is based on family income and size. Services covered by the program include examinations, preventive treatments (like cleanings, fluoride, and sealants), appliances (such as mouthguards and TMJ appliances), restorations, root canals, extractions, and denture fabrication and repairs. <sup>96</sup>

# 2.5.1.1.7 Dental Care Programs in Saskatchewan: SHA – Saskatchewan Health Authority Additional Programming

This program provides dental care to vulnerable adults and long-term care residents. It includes services such as oral assessments, referrals, preventive services, daily care and staff education; also in certain areas of the province some services are provided by private dentists in seniors' homes. <sup>93</sup>

# 2.5.2 University Dental Programs for Seniors

A few universities in Canada have initiated dental care programs to improve access to oral health services for seniors in their home. 97,98,99, 100

# 2.5.2.1 McGill University Mobile Dental Clinic

The Mobile Dental Clinic collaborates with community groups and agencies on the island of Montreal to offer free dental care and promote oral health education to vulnerable populations. Each year, the mobile clinics provide basic dental care to over 300 patients. <sup>97</sup> They visit community

locations and set up a dental clinic with 15 portable chairs throughout the academic year. <sup>97</sup> Treatments offered include examinations, cleanings, fillings, extractions and partial and complete dentures (acrylic only). <sup>97</sup> However, these oral health treatments are offered in universities clinics after initial assessments in community centres. <sup>97</sup>

# 2.5.2.2 University of British Columbia (UBC) Geriatric Dentistry Program

Established in 2002, this program is a collaboration between the Providence Health Care and the UBC Faculty of Dentistry. It offers a "fee-for-service-model". It provides clinical services to frail and functionally dependent seniors in 27 dental clinics within the LTCF's. Oral health assessments, dental hygiene and denture-related treatments (cleaning and adjustments) are provided within the LTCF's, whereas restorative and surgical procedures and denture fabrications are provided at clinics. He clinic operates at reduced fees, approximately 20 to 40% less than those in the British Columbia Dental Association Fee Guide.

# 2.5.2.3 University of Manitoba Home Dental Care Program

Established in 1985, this outreach program is an initiative of the Centre for Community Oral Health at the University of Manitoba. The target population includes individuals with mobility constraints and those who faced challenges in accessing traditional dental clinics. Services are provided by three mobile dental vans, by a group of dentists, dental hygienists, and dental assistants, in long-term care facilities and homes of homebound seniors. They provide services like examinations, dental hygiene procedures, restorations, extractions, denture repairs and fabrication, and crowns, with charges based on the current Manitoba Dental Association Fee Guide. These charges vary depending on the level of dependence. The initial oral health assessment fee is approximately \$76 for residents of personal care homes, while it is around \$234 for homebound individuals living independently or in assisted living facilities. A complimentary oral health assessment may be available for new patients or those who have not received one in the past year.

# 2.5.3 Integration of Oral Healthcare Services in Primary Healthcare

Integrated care has been defined as bringing together inputs, delivery, management and organization of services related to diagnosis, treatment, care, rehabilitation and health

promotion.<sup>101</sup> Integrated care refers to care coordination in long-term care, rehabilitation, palliative and end-of-life care, matched to the unique and often complex needs of people throughout the life course;<sup>102</sup> here there is a shift from inpatient care to ambulatory and outpatient care, and to more community-based interventions.<sup>102, 103</sup>

Integration of oral health into primary care or the primary oral healthcare (POHC) approach has been identified as a promising solution in dental service delivery, particularly for underserved populations. POHC aims to promote and preserve oral health, to prevent oral disease, injury and dysfunction, and to provide a regular source of care for acute and chronic oral diseases and disabilities. Integrating oral healthcare into primary healthcare can improve oral health outcomes through various strategies, including care coordination, innovative care models, and community-based oral health promotion programs. Additionally, innovative care models in the community settings include mobile dentistry with or without teledentistry implementation, management strategies based on prevention, and early treatment of dental disease; all considered essential to achieve benefits in oral health. By implementing these strategies, oral healthcare can become more accessible, efficient, and patient-centered within primary care systems. Interprofessional collaboration helps deliver coordinated and patient-centered care, improving overall health outcomes. Interprofessional collaboration helps deliver coordinated and patient-centered care, improving overall health outcomes.

# 2.5.3.1 Teledentistry

In an aging society, ensuring timely and equitable access to oral healthcare services to homebound seniors and those residing in LTCF's is crucial. Teledentistry is envisioned as a promising and reliable approach, to improve access to oral healthcare services and enhance seniors' overall health outcomes. The Defined as "the use of technology and various devices (e.g. video, audio, secure message) for remote oral healthcare delivery between patients and oral healthcare providers or between healthcare providers, teledentistry aims to facilitate access to care, reduce oral health inequalities, mitigate the economic impact of oral diseases and treatment, and foster interprofessional collaboration".

A limited number of studies have been published on teledentistry with seniors. 107, 110, 111, 112, 113 Typically teledentistry in nursing homes involves remote consultations between caregivers and dental professionals for virtual screening of oral conditions, diagnosis and treatment planning. 107

It supports assessing oral function and denture-related lesions, along with regular assessments of chewing abilities and oral rehabilitation status. <sup>107, 112</sup> Authors have reported several benefits, including improved access to dental care for seniors, reduced need for transportation, <sup>107</sup> shorter waiting times, <sup>113</sup> improved oral health knowledge and attitudes amongst patients, <sup>111, 112</sup> improved oral hygiene maintenance, and providing timely advice. <sup>111, 112</sup> Studies have also reported an improved coordination between dental professionals and the caregiving teams for the seniors. <sup>107</sup> Teledentistry has also proven to be beneficial in cases of emergency related to tooth pain for seniors. <sup>110, 111</sup>

Despite its numerous advantages, teledentistry faces several challenges to its implementation in seniors' living environments. 113, 111 At the individual level, seniors may struggle with cognitive decline, impaired vision, limited access to technology, and resistance to change, making virtual consultations challenging. 107 However, they may also experience anxiety due to this relatively new method of consultation. 113 Organizational-level barriers include proper training for healthcare providers, and efficient coordination for patient assessments and data sharing. 113 On the contextual level, concerns over confidentiality, data security, and the lack of clear medical—legal frameworks create uncertainty in its implementation. 113 Finally, structural barriers such as poor internet connectivity, low video quality, and technological limitations can hinder the smooth functioning of remote dental consultations. 113 Some authors have reported on the incredible value of integrating teledentistry in mobile dentistry to improve timely and equitable access to care as well as the continuity of oral healthcare. 114, 107

# 2.5.3.2 Mobile Dentistry

Mobile dentistry broadly encompasses various outreach activities conducted outside of the standard dental office. This term has been interchangeably used with concepts such as equipped dental van, portable dentistry, mobile dental care, mobile units, satellite units, portable dental services, and domiciliary dentistry. Often called "out of office dentistry", mobile dentistry is particularly effective in improving access to oral healthcare services for specific groups of the population with special needs, such as anxious patients, children, and individuals with mobility issues and physical disabilities. Office dentistry or mobile dental care is a mix of

domiciliary and portable services aiming to improve oral health generally by reducing unequal access to oral healthcare and contributing to a more inclusive and equitable healthcare system.<sup>119</sup>

These models facilitate oral health screenings, provide preventive and curative services in homebound settings, and deliver essential oral hygiene education. <sup>21, 115, 118</sup> By addressing access-related barriers, mobile and portable dental services can contribute significantly to reduce disparities in dental care delivery. <sup>21, 115, 118</sup> Seniors with mobility constraints, or with mental health conditions like Alzheimer's, can benefit from domiciliary dental care, <sup>21, 115</sup> considering their major challenges such as confusion and disorientation, anxiety, and fear of receiving oral health services in dental offices. <sup>21</sup>

# 2.5.3.2.1 Home-based Oral Healthcare Services

Home-Based Oral Healthcare (HBOHC) refers to the provision of oral healthcare in patient living environments, such as private homes, assisted living facilities, or nursing homes.<sup>21, 120</sup> This concept can appear in the literature as domiciliary dentistry, domiciliary dental care, and home dental care.<sup>21, 116</sup>

HBOHC is a sub-component of the umbrella term "home-based care," referring to a range of services provided in the patient's home by different healthcare professionals and care aids to support their health and wellbeing. For some authors, domiciliary dental care (DDC) refers to the provision of dental care in an environment where a person is resident either permanently or temporarily, as opposed to dental care delivered in a fixed dental clinic or a mobile dental unit. Home-based care or services vary in terms of different dimensions, including type of care provided, and degree of physician involvement. Home-based care includes both formal and informal personal care services, Medicare skilled home health, physician house calls, and even "hospital-at-home" services. Such services allow seniors with cognitive or physical impairments to receive care in a familiar environment, reducing their stress and giving them psychological comfort. The component of the provided in the patients are serviced in a familiar environment, reducing their stress and giving them psychological comfort.

HBOHC has gained an increased interest over time.<sup>73</sup> It has been implemented in many countries such as Switzerland,<sup>122</sup> Sweden,<sup>123</sup> the UK,<sup>124</sup> the USA,<sup>115, 125, 126</sup> Australia <sup>127</sup>, and Taiwan.<sup>120, 125</sup> It uses a smaller and transportable dental system setup that can be moved into the senior's home

or care facility directly. 115, 126 Basic oral hygiene and education are the most common oral healthcare services provided through the HBOHC. 20 DDC is often restricted to non-invasive dental procedures such as removable denture provision, simple restorative treatment, and single tooth extractions, with its primary aim to improve or maintain oral health. A newly proposed domiciliary risk assessment tool was published for delivering safe oral healthcare. Authors have reported that home oral healthcare can be provided by a mix of oral healthcare providers with various skills including dentists, dental hygienists, denturologists and dental therapists. 73,105 For instance, many home resident seniors had treatment needs that could be wholly addressed by a dental hygienist (22%) or therapist (27%). 130

HBOHC benefits to patients include better access to dental services, increased independence, and feeling less anxious and more involved in their dental care provided within a familiar environment. Ta, 117 However, they have a limited choice of service provider, with less flexibility in times and days for dental appointments. Multilevel factors related to patients, oral healthcare providers, and systemic barriers hamper the implementation of HBOHC. Physical and cognitive impairments, transportation challenges, financial constraints, privatisation of oral health, a lack of awareness of DDC services, patients' attitudes toward oral health, and lack of family support all limit the access to seniors' HBOHC, resulting in poor outcomes to their oral health, overall health, and quality of life. While caregivers play a central role, especially for seniors with cognitive or physical impairments, some critical factors limiting their involvement include time constraints, lack of financial incentives, and insufficient support. Additional factors include the lack of capacity among key oral healthcare providers and family members, their poor coordination and communication, their inadequate training and education, the lack of policy and guidelines, and limited access to dental equipment and materials.

The need for home care services is very high in Quebec. <sup>18</sup> In that province, in 2020–2021, 397,702 people received home support services, among which 72% were seniors above 65 years old. <sup>131</sup> However, for the same period, more than 41,000 people's home care needs were unmet. <sup>131</sup> Nearly 61% of 24.4 million hours of Quebec home care services were utilized by seniors above 65 years of age. <sup>131</sup> Thus, home services is viewed as a revolution to improve the access and the quality of life of seniors across the world, and in Quebec. <sup>132, 133</sup> However, the integration of oral healthcare in home services is limited and underexplored. In addition, there are limited studies about patients'

perspectives on receiving home-based oral healthcare services. Failure to explore this experience prevents the opportunity to understand how best to support seniors in preventing dental disease and improving oral health.

# 2.6 Patient Experiences with Home-Based Oral Healthcare Services

# 2.6.1 Paradigm of Patient Experience

Despite the growing emphasis on patients' experiences, the oral health field remains deeply anchored in a biomedical vision, with little interest in understanding patients' lives and preferences. 114, 134 According to Scambler et al. (2016), 134 the concept of person-centered care is neither clearly understood nor empirically and systematically assessed in dental settings. 134 There is little literature empirically assessing seniors' sharing decision-making or its practical outcomes in dental settings, though the delivery of person-centered care is an essential aspect of quality of care in dentistry. As a part of lived human experience, 135 patient experience is an integral element of patient-centered care, relevant in the paradigm of value-based oral healthcare, and one recurrent component of health reform initiatives (triple, quadruple and quintuple aims). 136-139

# 2.6.2 Patient Experience Definitions

Patient-Reported Experience Measures (PREMs) is an essential component of patient-reported measures in quality improvement efforts. <sup>140</sup> They are valid and key indicators of the process of quality of care, helping to identify areas for improving and enhancing the quality of care. <sup>139, 141</sup> There is a growing research interest in patient experience in healthcare systems, with various definitions. <sup>142</sup> However, the majority of the studies on patient experience have a rather narrow focus either on specific disciplines, settings such as hospitals, or patients with specific diseases and conditions. <sup>143</sup> The importance of person-centered care in defining healthcare quality was notably emphasized in the Institute of Medicine's (IOM) 2001 landmark report, *Crossing the Quality Chasm*, which identified patient-centeredness as one of six key domains of healthcare quality. <sup>143</sup> This recognition marked a significant shift, reinforcing the strong link between patient experience and healthcare quality. <sup>143</sup> The Picker Institute led to the development of patient experience measures to assess the quality of person-centered care from the patient's perspective. <sup>144</sup> Alongside Picker, The Beryl Institute, founded in 2010, has been instrumental in advancing research and best practices to enhance the patient experience in healthcare. <sup>143</sup>

Patient experience was first defined by the Beryl institute in 2010, as "the sum of all interactions between the healthcare providers and the patients, shaped by an organization's culture, that influence patient perceptions across the continuum of care". According to the Agency for Health-care Research and Quality (AHRQ, 2017), patient experience "encompasses the range of interactions that patients have with the healthcare system [and] includes several aspects of healthcare delivery that patients value highly when they seek and receive care such as getting timely appointments, easy access to information and good communication with healthcare providers." <sup>146</sup> Despite different definitions, quality of life, interaction, value perception and continuum of care stand out as the common keywords in such definitions. <sup>147</sup>

Patient experience begins before entering the healthcare system and continues throughout the care pathway.<sup>148</sup> At the heart of these efforts is recognition that the patient is the expert of their illness and health condition,<sup>149</sup> and is the best person in assessing both care delivery and patient outcomes,<sup>150</sup> and knowing their feelings about the care they received.<sup>136-139</sup>

Many countries are actively collecting periodic data on patient experience for developing and advancing their healthcare system and improving the quality of care; these include the UK, Norway, Sweden, Finland, the Czech Republic, Denmark, France, the USA, and Canada. The concept of patient experience is referred to by related terms such as patient perspectives, preferences, feedback, report, and satisfaction.

Patient-reported experience measures (PREMs) differ from patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs), which aim to measure patients' health status.<sup>154</sup> PREMs are composed of three domains: effective communication, respect and dignity, and emotional support, themselves shaped by patients' needs, expectations, expressed needs, and values.<sup>137</sup> They are governed by the organization's culture, providing a holistic experience in the healthcare system.<sup>145</sup> PREMs are often measured by instruments like standardized questionnaires (e.g., CAHPS survey and the Picker Patient Experience Questionnaire) and qualitative tools (patient interviews and focus groups).<sup>141</sup> More than patient satisfaction, patient experience includes different dimensions, ranging from dissatisfaction (the illness experience, poor customer service) to coping/dealing with the condition (the lived experience of the illness), to satisfaction (responsiveness to treatment and care).<sup>155</sup> Satisfaction is an indicator of a period of time, but experience captures all that someone

encounters, the perceptions and the stories they tell as a result, their impacts and their importance.<sup>155</sup> The domain of responsiveness includes autonomy, choice, communication, confidentiality, dignity, prompt attention, and quality of basic amenities.<sup>155, 156</sup>

# 2.6.3 Benefits of Understanding Patient Experience

Findings in terms of patients' experiences can be used by researchers, healthcare organizations, policymakers, and educational decision makers to evaluate the current healthcare delivery system, and to identify areas of improvement for a more patient-centered healthcare approach. <sup>137, 157-159</sup> In recent years, PREMs have been utilized to guide pay-for-performance (P4P) and benchmarking initiatives, alongside other healthcare quality domains such as clinical quality/effectiveness, health information technology, and resource utilization. <sup>137, 146, 160</sup> There is a strong correlation of positive patient experience with better healthcare outcomes, as a positive experience is significantly associated with patient engagement and higher compliance with the treatment. <sup>158, 159</sup> Despite these benefits, patients' experience has received limited attention in dentistry and especially for marginalized populations such as seniors, who face unique challenges in accessing healthcare services including oral healthcare. <sup>161, 162</sup>

# 2.6.4 Patient Experience Frameworks

Several conceptual frameworks have been developed to understand patient experience in healthcare. <sup>163, 164, 148, 165, 166, 167</sup> To our knowledge, there is no existing review of these frameworks in the literature. Among these frameworks, the Experience Framework by the Beryl Institute, <sup>163</sup> the National Health Service (NHS) patient experience framework, <sup>164</sup> Patrick Oben's patient experience conceptual framework, <sup>148</sup> the Mayo Clinic's patient experience framework, <sup>165</sup> the Warwick patient experience framework, <sup>166</sup> and the 5P holistic framework reported several relevant concepts related to the conceptualization of person-centered care in dentistry. <sup>114, 134</sup>

# 2.6.4.7 Patient and Human Experience: The Beryl Institute

Patient experience is a core component of human experience.<sup>155</sup> Grounded on expectations, perspectives and perceptions, patient experience is individual and personalized; it is not limited to a specific care setting or the clinical encounter of care.<sup>163</sup> Patient experience encompasses their perspectives and perceptions of all encounters throughout the continuum of care.<sup>163</sup> The human

experience in healthcare integrates the sum of all interactions—every encounter among patients, families and care partners, and the healthcare workforce.<sup>145</sup> It is driven by the culture of healthcare organizations and systems that operate within the breadth of the care continuum in the communities they serve and the ever-changing environmental landscapes in which they are situated.<sup>145</sup>

# 2.6.4.2 Warwick Patient Experience Framework

Based on a comprehensive review of the literature, <sup>166</sup> seven key themes are crucial for a high-quality patient experience: patient as active participant, responsiveness of services, an individualized approach, lived experience, continuity of care and relationships, communication, and information and support. <sup>168</sup> These themes provide a structured way to assess and improve patient-centered care, ensuring that healthcare services align with patients' needs and expectations. <sup>168</sup> This framework played a significant role in shaping the structure and content of the NICE Patient Experience Guidance. <sup>168</sup>

# 2.6.4.3 The National Health Service (NHS) Patient Experience Framework

Adapted from the Picker Institute's Principles of Patient-Centered Care, <sup>164</sup> the department of health and social care of the United Kingdom in 2011 published their own framework outlining important areas of patient experiences, <sup>164, 169</sup> including effective communications, patient-centered care, involvement of family members in decisions, and access to timely and coordinated care. <sup>164</sup>

# 2.6.4.4 Patient Experience Conceptual Framework by Oben

Each person is an individual whose life experiences shape their views of health, illness, and health services. <sup>148</sup> These experiences influence patients' needs and expectations of healthcare, including dental care. <sup>148</sup> The holistic way of the patient journey is presented through three distinct phases: person, patient, and user. <sup>148</sup> It starts with a healthy individual with no experience of disease, followed by transiting to the phase of being a patient with the onset of disease, and finally the "user" phase, where the patient becomes a consumer of healthcare services. <sup>148</sup> The patient experience is shaped by interactions with the healthcare providers and the system. <sup>148</sup>

# 2.6.4.5 Patient Experience by Mayo Clinic

The Mayo Clinic's patient experience framework focuses on three components to deliver optimal patient experience: communication, expertise, context and connection. Communication refers to the style and manner of interaction between patients and the providers and care teams. Expertise reflects patient expectations of receiving medical advice from highly skilled professionals, thus fostering trust and confidence in care delivery. The component context and connection highlights the importance of meaningful interactions, where care team members provide empathy, offer hope, and understand the patient's personal and medical circumstances.

# 2.6.4.6 The 5P Holistic Framework of Patient Experience

The 5P framework can be used by healthcare professionals to better understand the driving factors of patient experience and to create a strategy to improve patient satisfaction. Five critical dimensions influence the patient's experience: provider (e.g., policies, regulations), healthcare providers (e.g., communication, skill, trust), patient (e.g., treatment type, relatives), personnel (e.g., nurses, receptionist) and periphery (e.g., transportation, location). This framework provides a holistic picture, which integrates the perspectives of patients, healthcare providers and experts including scholars and researchers.

In summary, patient experience encompasses different domains, most commonly comprising communication, expectations, family support, trust, skills, patient-healthcare provider relationships, expectations, dignity, continuity of care, perceptions, and interactions.

# 2.6.5 Patient Experience in Quebec

Patient experience is increasingly being used in healthcare facilities in Quebec particularly as a requirement by Accreditation Canada. Accreditation Canada has developed tools for acute care and mental healthcare sectors based on the standardized American Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (HCAHPS) questionnaire, with additional questions on transition and continuity of care, cultural considerations, and emotional support for the patients and their families. This standardized tool can be used across all facilities, yet many healthcare organizations in Quebec rely on customized "in-house" tools for patient experience evaluation.

## 2.6.6 Patient Experience in Dental Care Settings

The studies have explored patient experience in dentistry including oral surgery<sup>171</sup> and in hospitals.<sup>172</sup> Authors focused on patient involvement in decision-making and intra-operative pain management. The Dental Practice Questionnaire and the CAHPS Dental Plan Survey are both valid and reliable instruments used to examine oral healthcare patient experience.<sup>173</sup> However, they are limited in their scope, excluding aspects related to expectations and care coordination, underscoring a call to action to increase the appreciation of these essential components of oral healthcare quality in dental practice.<sup>173</sup> Most studies have been conducted on patient satisfaction, which is not the same as assessing the experience of care,<sup>173</sup> and high satisfaction ratings may not indicate good experiences with the service.<sup>173, 174</sup> In a study on patient experiences of dental care in private dental offices in Australia, patients cited the importance of having a supportive and caring dentist and a dedicated dental team, who respected them and listened to their concerns, along with emphasizing person-centered care.<sup>175</sup> In a recent paper on healthcare experience of seniors in dental care settings, the authors highlighted that seniors may have varied views and attitudes regarding dental care.<sup>174</sup> Thus, understanding their experiences can be useful to support them when they are seeking care.<sup>174</sup>

# 2.6.7 Seniors' Experience in Home-based Oral Healthcare Services

A few studies have explored the experiences of seniors and caregivers for the dental services delivered to patients in their living environment. In a study exploring the experiences of seniors and caregivers for services received from two mobile dental clinics in seniors' homes or in long-term care facilities in Quebec, <sup>116</sup> the participants expressed deep appreciation for these services, highlighting both the quality of care and the competency of the dental teams, and the benefits of domiciliary dental care in improving accessibility to dental services. <sup>116</sup> In British Columbia, Ardenghi et al. (2017) conducted a study to understand the experiences of family members of dental services (e.g., basic oral care services, specialized care) provided to their home-bounded seniors in the province. <sup>176</sup> The family members of the seniors expressed a significant concern and stress over the unavailability of specialized dentists for dental care in seniors' homes. <sup>176</sup> The availability of domiciliary dental services improves access to essential oral healthcare services without the challenges of travelling to a clinic. <sup>176</sup> In a scoping review on challenges and opportunities of domiciliary oral care, the authors highlighted the importance of recognizing the

barriers in accessing oral healthcare for seniors, and the relevance of implementing services that also address the individual needs, preferences, and challenges of seniors.<sup>20</sup>

### 2.7 Gaps in Knowledge and Need for Research

Population aging is a global phenomenon, resulting in the crucial need to manage the specific oral health needs of seniors. The oral health of homebound seniors is a significant concern, as it directly impacts healthy aging. Beyond the challenges associated with aging and geriatric conditions affecting oral health, homebound seniors face complex and unique barriers in accessing oral care services. <sup>12</sup> To address these oral healthcare disparities, mobile dentistry with mobile units has been suggested as a promising solution to bring oral healthcare services to seniors' living environment, influencing patients' outcomes. <sup>117</sup> However, in Quebec's home care services, which involve an interprofessional team including social workers, case managers, occupational therapists, specialized education technicians, physicians, nurses, and speech-language pathologists, oral healthcare has yet to be integrated.

Under the leadership of an interdisciplinary research team and the strong collaboration with decision makers, a demonstration pilot project called the project Dent Ma Maison was implemented in two Quebec health centers: the Integrated University Health and Social Services Centre – West-Central Montreal (CCOMTL), and the Integrated University Health and Social Services Centre – South-Central Montreal (CCSMTL).<sup>177, 178</sup> Through this pilot phase, all oral healthcare services were provided free of charge to homebound seniors with specific criteria, by a dental team using portable equipment. However, seniors and their caregivers may have significantly different views about what is satisfactory or good quality of oral care. Several multilevel factors can positively or negatively influence the provision of home-based oral healthcare, highlighting the need to understand how seniors perceive this new service model.

Despite various efforts done to improve patient experience across healthcare services in Quebec, there is no formal and standardized tool used to capture patient experience in oral health in the province. Studies on patient experience in dental care settings have emphasized hospitals, or seniors in general, but lacked focus on homebound seniors. Some studies targeted this subgroup but only covered a limited scope of patient experience.

Therefore, it is crucial to address this gap as an important component of dental practice, education and research.<sup>161</sup> There is still a lack of research on homebound seniors' perspectives on homebased oral healthcare services, making it essential to assess whether this pilot study meets their needs and expectations, as well as their acceptance of it, perceived benefits, and challenges in access.

# **CHAPTER 3: STUDY OBJECTIVES AND RESEARCH QUESTION**

The aim of this study is to explore the experiences of homebound seniors regarding home-based oral care services they received under the Dent Ma Maison pilot project.

This study seeks to understand their challenges with accessing oral healthcare services, expectations with these services, perceived benefits, and overall satisfaction of home-based oral healthcare services.

# Objectives:

- 1. To understand the perceptions and perspectives of homebound seniors with home-based oral healthcare services.
- 2. To identify potential areas for improvement in the delivery of home-based oral healthcare services for homebound seniors.
- 3. To build on both previous objectives, we will develop recommendations to inform the spread of home-based oral healthcare services in Quebec.

# Research Questions:

- 1. How do homebound seniors perceive and experience home-based oral healthcare services?
- 2. What are the key challenges and areas for improvement in the delivery of home-based oral healthcare services for homebound seniors?
- 3. What recommendations do home-bound seniors have to enhance and improve the expansion of home-based oral healthcare services?

# **CHAPTER 4: METHODOLOGY AND RESULTS: MANUSCRIPT**

The article, titled "Homebound Senior's Experiences with Home-based Oral Healthcare Services: A Qualitative Study", was written following the analysis of the interviews conducted.

The article was written by me and was reviewed and revised by my supervisor, co-supervisor and co-authors Pascaline Kengne Talla, Elham Emami, Yves Couturier, Seeta Ramdass, Marie-Ève Poitras<sup>,</sup> Élise Bertrand, Stéphanie Morneau, Sandra Verdon.

HOMEBOUND SENIORS' EXPERIENCES WITH HOME-BASED ORAL

HEALTHCARE SERVICES: A QUALITATIVE STUDY

Grusha A. Akade <sup>1,2</sup>, Pascaline Kengne Talla <sup>1,2</sup>, Yves Couturier <sup>3</sup>, Seeta Ramdass <sup>4</sup>, Marie-Ève Poitras<sup>5</sup>, Élise Bertrand <sup>6</sup>, Stéphanie Morneau <sup>6</sup>, Sandra Verdon <sup>6</sup>, Elham Emami <sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Faculty of Dental Medicine and Oral Health Sciences, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec,

Canada

<sup>2</sup> Quebec Network for Intersectoral Research in Sustainable Bone and Oral Health (RiSBOd),

Montreal, Quebec, Canada

<sup>3</sup> School of Social Work, University of Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke, Quebec, Canada

<sup>4</sup> Office of Social Accountability and Community Engagement, McGill University, Montreal,

Quebec Canada

<sup>5</sup> Department of Family Medicine and Emergency Medicine, University of Sherbrooke,

Sherbrooke, Quebec, Canada

<sup>6</sup> Dentiste-conseil du Ministère de la Santé et des Services sociaux du Québec (MSSS), Quebec,

Canada

**Corresponding author:** 

Dr. Pascaline Kengne Talla, McGill University, Dental Medicine and Oral Health Sciences

2001 Avenue McGill College, Montreal, Quebec, CA H3A1G1

Email: pascaline.kengnetalla@mcgill.ca

Abstract

**Background:** Oral health is vital to healthy aging, yet empirical studies have reported persistent

oral healthcare disparities among seniors. Home-based oral healthcare services have the potential

to facilitate homebound seniors' access to dental care.

**Objective:** To explore experiences of homebound seniors with a home-based oral healthcare pilot

project in Montreal.

**Methods**: A qualitative study using an interpretive description methodology was conducted.

Purposive sampling was used to recruit study participants, who received home-based dental care

via the pilot project. Data was collected using audio-recorded, virtual, semi-structured interviews

45-60 minutes in length, and continued until saturation was achieved. Qualitative data was

analyzed using a thematic approach. The Standards for Reporting Qualitative Research (SRQR)

for reporting qualitative studies were followed.

**Results:** Eleven interviews (8 F and 3 M, mean age: 69.5 years) were conducted, and three themes

emerged: oral healthcare hurdles faced by seniors, appreciation for home-based oral healthcare

services, and enhancing home-based oral healthcare.

Pain was a common problem among the seniors. Participants appreciated the home-based oral

healthcare services and reported a high level of satisfaction as it met their expectations. They

provided useful recommendations for the future implementation and scale-up of home-based oral

healthcare services.

Conclusion: The findings of this study highlight the efficacy of home-based oral healthcare

services from the perspective of homebound seniors. The patients' positive experience indicates

its clinical relevance and the importance of expanding such programs. The seniors'

recommendations have important policy implications and provide guidance for scaling up these

oral healthcare services.

**Keywords:** Aging, Home-based oral care services, patient experiences, qualitative study

30

# **Background**

Oral health is a key component of healthy aging, as it significantly affects overall health and well-being of people throughout their life course (1-4). The population of seniors above the age of 60 is expected to rise to 22% of the global population by 2050 (5). In Canada, seniors represented 18.9% of the total population in 2024 (6). The province of Quebec has a relatively higher percentage of seniors in Canada compared to other provinces; in 2024, one out of five (21.1%) of Quebec's population were seniors above 65 years old, and this proportion is expected to rise to 27% by 2066 (7). To address the challenges of an aging population, the United Nations has declared the period of 2021–2030 as the Decade of Healthy Aging (8).

Governmental surveys and empirical studies have reported significant oral health disparities among Canadian seniors populations (9). The oral health component of the Canadian Health Measures Survey (2007–2009) reported a mean DMFT (Decayed, Missing, Filled Teeth) score of 15.67 for seniors over 60 years old, with 25% of seniors being edentulous (10). The results from the 2023–2024 Canadian Oral Health Survey indicate that 59.8% of seniors aged 65–79 and 71.1% of seniors over 80 are uninsured, which acts as a significant access barrier to oral healthcare services (11). Compared to seniors in other Canadian provinces, Quebec residents are more likely to lack dental insurance, with 53% of them being without dental coverage (11). Seniors' oral health conditions are influenced by physical or cognitive impairments, poly-medication, and most importantly, frailty (4, 12-14). Furthermore, various factors at the micro, meso and macro levels contribute to oral health inequalities in geriatric populations (12, 15-17) including seniors' attitudes and behaviours toward oral health (4, 18), absence of support from formal and informal caregivers (15), lack of qualified oral healthcare providers (4, 12, 15, 18, 19), lack of insurance coverage, inadequate infrastructures, and lack of guidelines for geriatric dental care (4, 12, 20).

To address the oral health disparity among the seniors, approaches such as mobile dentistry have been used to bring oral healthcare services to the seniors' living environment. Mobile dentistry has been studied in various countries, including Switzerland (21), Sweden (22), the United Kingdom (23), Australia (24), Canada (25), and the USA (24). Accordingly, a lack of healthcare policies (26, 27), inadequate funding and resources (23, 27), and a lack of guidelines for oral hygiene in nursing home and long-term care facilities have been reported (28, 29) (25, 30) as barriers to dental care in the living environment (31).

Previous research in domiciliary dental care has indicated that informal caregivers and family members of seniors are concerned about the lack of oral healthcare workforce with training in gerodontology (23, 25, 30). A recent study conducted by Blasi et al. (32) shows that seniors' reduced mobility is associated with lower capacity in maintaining oral hygiene (32, 33). In that study seniors were concerned about both the quality of care and the limited scope of dental treatments received at their nursing homes (32). In the study conducted by Makansi et al., homebound seniors appreciated the domiciliary dental care and reported that the dental team's competency was an important element in the patient experience (25).

Patient experience is defined by the Beryl institute as "the sum of all interactions between the healthcare providers and the patients, shaped by an organization's culture, that influence patient perceptions across the continuum of care" (34). Patient experience is a crucial component of patient-centered care (35) and an indicator of high quality of care (36) including clinical and patient-oriented outcomes. It also guides healthcare polices and delivery care (37).

However, so far research has been mostly focused on exploring the perspectives, attitudes, and perceived barriers of oral healthcare providers (21, 23, 26, 27, 38, 39) and caregivers (28, 29, 40) in long-term facilities. Still there is a gap in knowledge regarding the experiences of homebound seniors receiving home-based oral healthcare services (36, 41, 42). Therefore, this study was conducted to explore the experiences of homebound seniors with home-based oral healthcare services provided through a pilot project entitled Dent Ma Maison.

#### Methods

### **Description of the Dent Ma Maison Pilot Project**

The Dent Ma Maison project is a project led by the Faculty of Dental Medicine and Oral Health Sciences at McGill University. It aims to provide dental care to Montreal's geriatric population (aged 65 and above) who are homebound and cannot afford private dental care. In the pilot phase, funded by philanthropic contributions, the project was implemented in collaboration with the Quebec Ministry of Health and Social Services and its two associate Centers: the Integrated University Health and Social Services Centre – West-Central Montreal (CCOMTL) (45), and the Integrated University Health and Social Services Centre – South-Central Montreal (CCSMTL) (46).

In Quebec, general healthcare services are delivered at home by an interprofessional team that includes social workers, case managers, occupational therapists, specialized education technicians, physicians, nurses, and speech-language pathologists. Case managers assess patient needs, coordinate interdisciplinary services, and connect patients to healthcare resources.

Through the Dent Ma Maison project, oral healthcare services were integrated into the home care services for seniors with severe or moderate functional autonomy loss. Dental care included emergency examinations, complete oral examinations, oral hygiene, scaling, fluoride application, anterior and posterior composite restorations, and minimally invasive restorations. Services such as rebasing, relining, adjustment, cleaning, and polishing of dentures were included, but the fabrication of new complete, partial and fixed prostheses was excluded. All oral healthcare services were provided free of charge.

A team of McGill researchers subsequently secured governmental funds to study various aspects of this demonstration project. The study presented here was designed to explore the experiences of homebound seniors who received free dental care at their homes and agreed to participate in the study.

## **Study Design**

The study used a qualitative approach and interpretive description methodology to gain a deeper understanding of the experiences of homebound seniors with home-based oral healthcare services (47, 48). The interpretive description was introduced by Sally Thorne in 1997, to generate findings that can inform clinical practice and decision making (47-50). The Standards for Reporting Qualitative Research (51) were followed to report this qualitative research.

### **Study Participants and Inclusion Criteria**

The study participants who received oral healthcare services under the Dent Ma Maison project were invited to participate in the study if they met the inclusion criteria. Participants or their proxies (family caregivers) were approached by the clinical team providing the dental services. A purposive sampling strategy was used to select "information-rich" patients (52, 53). The data collection and analysis were conducted simultaneously and continued until saturation was achieved (54).

All recipients of dental care in the Dent Ma Maison project were eligible to participate in the research study. The participants were required to communicate in French or English. The informal caregivers of study participants with severe cognitive impairments served as proxies for the interviews.

#### **Data Collection**

Data was collected using semi-structured, virtual interviews between June 2023 and November 2023. A sociodemographic questionnaire and an interview guide were used to collect the data. The interview guide was developed based on existing literature and the research team's expertise. It was reviewed by the members of the research team including the patient partner, to ensure the relevance of questions. The interviews were conducted by research team members (GA, PKT) trained or experts in qualitative research and interviewing techniques. Because of public health restrictions of the COVID-19 pandemic, the interviews were conducted virtually using the Cisco Webex application (cloud-based platform for conference calls in private meeting rooms) or telephonic interviews.

The interviews began with general questions about the patients' oral health, followed by more specific questions about the seniors' perspectives, experiences and expectations with the dental services. Further questions were based on the participants' responses and mostly consisted of clarifications and probing for details (52). Each interview was audio-recorded and lasted 45 to 60 minutes. It was then transcribed and deidentified to ensure participants' anonymity. The interviews were conducted until data saturation (55) was reached. Data collection and data analysis were performed concurrently.

### **Data Analysis**

The data analyses included transcription, debriefing, codification, data display, thematic inductive analysis, and interpretation. To ensure credibility and trustworthiness, transcripts were independently reviewed by two team members (GA, PKT). The memos were used to record the thought processes and decisions made by the members, thereby creating an audit trail to ensure the rigour and reflexivity of the research (56, 57). A multiple coding process was conducted to increase reliability (58, 59). The credibility and quality of the research findings was achieved by

triangulation of interpretations between research team members (60). Differences in interpretation were resolved by discussion until the common consensus was achieved.

### **Results**

Data saturation was reached after 11 interviews. Table 1 presents the sociodemographic characteristics of the study participants. The mean age of the study participants was 69.5 years. All of them had a low socioeconomic background, which was a requirement to be included in Dent Ma Maison. Study participants had diverse ethnic backgrounds. Five of them were using wheelchairs and all of them resided in their own homes. Three major themes emerged from the qualitative analyses to describe experience of homebound seniors: oral healthcare hurdles for homebound seniors; appreciation for home-based oral healthcare services; and enhancing homebased oral healthcare.

#### **Oral Healthcare Hurdles for Seniors**

Study participants were informed about the impact of untreated oral health issues on their eating abilities, nutritional intake, and physical and mental health as well as social well-being. Pain was a common problem among seniors.

"He was in severe pain. He couldn't eat; he couldn't chew. He was complaining of a lot of pain." (Participant 5)

"This is really a problem because it's affecting her well-being." (Participant 3)

Seniors with a physical handicap or reduced mobility attributed their poor experiences with dental services to a lack of dental clinics, following the universal access guidelines (33). This limitation included transportation as well as the architectural design of clinics.

"A lot of problems when we go to dental offices, some of them don't have the necessary equipment, in terms of accessibility, it's a bit difficult to get around into the dental cabins. When we go to the dentist, they always have a problem adjusting their equipment to the fact that the person is in a wheelchair and can't get around." (Participant 2)

"There's no infrastructure. It's not at all accessible for these people with wheelchairs that are quite big. There are small practices that have no access." (Participant 1)

Participants also reported that during the COVID-19 pandemic, their problems were exacerbated.

"Nobody visited us because everything was locked down." (Participant 11)

# **Appreciation for Home-Based Oral Healthcare Services**

Participants appreciated the home-based oral healthcare service and reported a high level of satisfaction as it met their expectations. Their expressions of gratitude highlighted the free dental care as well as receiving oral healthcare at their home.

"And it was excellent service. I can't complain about the service; it was everything he needed... And then it was a good dental care. Finally, at home." (Participant 1)

"It's given me back a little zest for life that was lost. It's easier to communicate with others when you have a nice smile." (Participant 8)

In addition, the participants valued the dental team's attitudes, competencies and flexibility. They recognized the compassionate and empathic behavior of the healthcare providers.

"The care was provided at home. Once in bed, once on the chair, to make sure that oral health was really taken care of by real professionals who were concerned about avoiding certain inconveniences related to mobility." (Participant 2)

"At home, it was perfect... it was excellent and easy, especially since I'm a disabled person. It was perfect for me; it came at the right time because I had a lot of problems. So, it was great to have it not only at home, but then free of charge, and with people who were really very kind, very efficient professionals. I really appreciated the experience." (Participant 2)

"I thought this service was excellent, whatever she did was right because I would like all my mom's professionals to be like that." (Participant 3)

"It was very above my expectations." (Participant 5)

"So, for patients who are a bit disabled, it makes them suffer less, there's less pressure." (Participant 6)

"He can eat, he wasn't complaining, he was happier, he enjoyed his food more." (Participant 5)

## **Enhancing Home-Based Oral Healthcare**

Participants provided useful recommendations mostly related to the future implementation and scale-up of home-based oral healthcare services in the province. They suggested to use public advertisement to raise awareness about these services to help and benefit more people.

"There should be more advertising, a free service this extraordinary, maybe people just don't know about it." (Participant 8)

"Awareness raising on the government side, to make aware to the whole province of Quebec." (Participant 1)

Participants expressed some concerns regarding the range of services. They suggested a larger basket of services and strategies to guarantee the sustainability of these programs, especially for people with reduced mobility. The affordability of care was also highlighted.

"They were supposed to do my partials, and they didn't do them, but everything else is fine." (Participant 2)

"There are things that need to be continued and cavities that I have to see another doctor about now to remove the cavity. So it's going to be better if the dentist comes back." (Participant 7)

"People who can't pay, have physical problems should be included for home care services." (Participant 9)

"It should be free, that's important for people on modest incomes. When it comes to insurance for someone who's retired, it's not easy to get coverage." (Participant 1)

#### **Discussion**

This exploratory study provides a deep understanding of the experiences of homebound seniors with home-based oral healthcare services provided under the project. To our knowledge, this is the first qualitative study that explores the experiences of homebound Quebec seniors with free dental care provided at their homes. Furthermore, this project was conducted in collaboration with various stakeholders, representatives of health policymakers, and patients, to ensure that the research

findings will be beneficial to implementation in the real-world setting and will respond to the unique needs of the aging population (61).

The study findings highlight the challenges faced by homebound seniors in accessing oral healthcare services. Our results show that the shortcomings of dental practices, particularly the lack of required infrastructure for people with reduced mobility, are major barriers to accessing dental care services. Furthermore, long travel distances and long waiting times for public transportation have aggravated these challenges. Several studies in literature have also underlined these barriers as significant contributors to the burden of poor oral health in seniors (4, 62, 63).

It is noteworthy that although all our study participants had different sociocultural backgrounds, they shared the same experiences regarding their oral health problems and the challenges in access to care. The barriers expressed align with Penchansky and Thomas's theoretical framework, where the five dimensions of access including accessibility, availability, acceptability, affordability and accommodation, play a significant role in care disparity (64). The study findings show that patients had a positive experience with the care received at home since it addressed all the five dimensions of access (64).

As reported by the study's participants, accessibility was improved through home visits, offering a solution for individuals with limited mobility who had difficulty accessing traditional dental clinics (64). Accommodation was reported in terms of the flexibility of the dental team, who adapted their care to the unique needs of each patient (64). Affordability was ensured by providing free services, which was highly appreciated by participants (64). Availability was reflected in the provision of care directly at home, removing barriers like transportation and mobility issues (64). And finally, acceptability was achieved by the compassionate and professional attitudes of the dental providers, creating a positive, supportive environment for patients (64). Participants' suggestions about raising awareness of these services reflects in the additional dimension of access, introduced in 2016 by Saurman et al. (65); according to their research, increasing awareness enables patients to effectively utilize needed healthcare services, improving access and health outcomes.

Several domiciliary dental care programs have been implemented. These include home dental care programs in Canada (30, 66), dental clinics in long-term care facilities in Scotland (67, 68), nursing homes in Sweden (69) and in Australia (70), and the Hong Kong Outreach Dental Care Program

(ODCP) for residents in long-term care facilities (71). The results of studies conducted to analyze the efficacy of the domiciliary dental services showed that they improve oral health outcomes in seniors (30, 71, 72). The findings of studies conducted by Makansi et al. (2021) (25) and Ardenghi et al. (2017) (30) show that the home-based dental services have a profound impact not only on oral health, but also on nutritional intake, physical and mental health, and social life as well as overall well-being of the aging population. Our study results confirm these findings and indicate that home-based healthcare could alleviate oral healthcare disparity among the aging population (25, 30).

Our study participants' appreciation and gratitude toward the benefits of receiving care in their living environments is in line with the Moral Affect Theory of Gratitude introduced by McCullough et al. in 2001 (73). This theory suggests that gratitude depends on social and cognitive factors (73). Accordingly, people express appreciation when they receive a valuable benefit without any relationship between the benefactor and the beneficiary (73). McCullough also notes that people are more likely to express gratitude when they feel their needs have been met in ways that exceed their expectations, particularly in situations where it was unexpected (73).

Homebound seniors recommended extending Dent Ma Maison dental services to people with restricted mobility regardless of age. They also suggested providing regular check-ups for ongoing oral health maintenance and increase public awareness to reach a larger population. Similar recommendations were found in studies by Makansi et al. (2021) and Yang et al. (2022) (25, 71). The participants' demand for inclusion of prosthodontic services (denture fabrication) in homebased oral healthcare services highlights the need for a tailored approach to care, especially in light of the high percentage of edentulous seniors in Quebec (74).

Our study results support the findings of Makansi et al. (2021) (25) reporting that dental team competency is a main success factor in domiciliary dental care (25). In addition, patients with special care needs value the positive attitude of the oral healthcare providers, as it helps alleviate dental anxiety and enhances the overall care experience. Thus, improving both professional competencies and interpersonal communication skills should be encouraged in dental schools and through continuing professional education.

Our study results should be interpreted with caution, given some limitations. The study only includes participants from Montreal and thus may not be generalizable to other geographical and

societal contexts. Additionally, the sample size was small and COVID-19 pandemic restrictions prevented in-person interviews. However, a minimum of eight interviews could be adequate to achieve saturation (52). Telephonic interviews helped reach this group of hard-to-reach people, with varying levels of cognitive problems as well, and we achieved saturation. This innovative study was developed with key stakeholders (61). The diversity in the participant pool strengthens the study's findings. The trustworthiness of results was ensured constantly by ensuring reflexivity and detailed documentation.

### **Conclusions**

The findings of this study highlight the efficacy of home-based oral healthcare services from the perspective of homebound seniors. The patients' positive experience indicates the clinical relevance of these services and emphasize system-wide adaptations including infrastructure, resources, techniques and technologies to better address the preferences and realities of seniors with mobility and cognitive impairments. There is a need to scale-up and implement largely homebased oral healthcare services across the province to address the oral health needs of homebound seniors.

#### **Declarations**

### **Ethics approval and consent to participate:**

Ethical approval of the study was obtained from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of McGill University as well from the Integrated University Health and Social Services (IRB study number A05-B57-22 / eRAP 22-05-048). Informed written consent was obtained from all study participants, specifying that their participation was completely voluntary. Ethical guidelines were respected to ensure the confidentiality and anonymity of the participants.

# **Consent for publication:**

Not applicable

### Availability of data and materials:

The datasets used and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

## **Competing interests:**

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare

### **Funding:**

This study was funded by a Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Catalyst Grant – Quadruple Aim and Equity (202110QA2-478420-QAE).

#### **Authors' contribution:**

P.K.T., E.E., E.B., S.M., and S.V. contributed to the conception of Dent Ma Maison project. P.K.T., E.E., Y.C., S.R. and M.E.P. conceptualized the research project. P.K.T., E.E. and G.A.A. wrote the manuscript. All co-authors reviewed the manuscript. They approved the last version of this manuscript.

### **Acknowledgements:**

The authors would like to acknowledge the collaboration of the two Quebec health institutions. We would also like to thank all the clinicians and managers in these services. The authors sincerely thank all the study participants. The authors also express sincere gratitude to the philanthropic funds received via the nonprofit organization. We also recognize the contributions of researchers

from McGill University (Dr. Christophe Bedos, Dr. Anita Brown-Johnson), and from Laval university (Dr. Maude Laberge, Dr. France Légaré) during the phase of grant application.

# **Appendix:**

**Table 1: Sociodemographic characteristics of participants** 

Characteristics	Number of participants (n = 11)
Female	8
Male	3
Age group	
50–64 years	4
65–85 years	6
Over 85 years	1
Ethnicity	
Indigenous / Visible minority	7
Other	4
Physical disability	
Yes	5
Language	
French	5
English	6

#### References

- 1. Raphael C. Oral Health and Aging. Am J Public Health. 2017;107(S1):S44-s5.
- 2. van der Putten GJ, de Baat C, De Visschere L, Schols J. Poor oral health, a potential new geriatric syndrome. Gerodontology. 2014;31 Suppl 1:17-24.
- 3. Gil-Montoya JA, de Mello AL, Barrios R, Gonzalez-Moles MA, Bravo M. Oral health in the elderly patient and its impact on general well-being: a nonsystematic review. Clin Interv Aging. 2015;10:461-7.
- 4. Borreani E, Wright D, Scambler S, Gallagher JE. Minimising barriers to dental care in older people. BMC Oral Health. 2008;8(1):7.
- 5. Organisation W-WH. Ageing and health. WHO; 1 October 2024.
- 6. Canada Go. Demographic estimates by age and gender, provinces and territories: Interactive dashboard. In: Canada S, editor.
- 7. Canada S. A portrait of Canada's growing population aged 85 and older from the 2021 Census. 27 April 2022.
- 8. Organisation W-WH. WHO's work on the UN Decade of Healthy Ageing (2021–2030)-Join the movement on the Decade Platform.
- 9. Self-reported oral health problems in the Canadian population living in the provinces, November 2023 to March 2024 [press release]. Statistics Canada News Daily23-10-2024.
- 10. Canada H. Report on the findings of the oral health component of the Canadian Health Measures Survey 2007-2009. Ottawa, Ontario.
- 11. Dental visits returning to levels seen before the COVID-9 pandemic among Canadians in the provinces, 2023-2024 [press release]. 27/08/2024.
- 12. de Sam Lazaro SL, Nitschke Durben AM, Kline JJ. Barriers and Opportunities to Support the Oral Health of Older Adults: A Rapid Review of Health Policy and Systems. Int J Aging Hum Dev. 2023;96(1):51-62.
- 13. De Rubeis V, Jiang Y, de Groh M, Dufour L, Bronsard A, Morrison H, et al. Barriers to oral care: a cross-sectional analysis of the Canadian longitudinal study on aging (CLSA). BMC Oral Health. 2023;23(1):294.

- 14. Gondro JV, Murphy K, Clark J, Fortin Y. Factors associated with the use of oral health care services among seniors in Canada. Health Rep. 2024;35(6):16-28.
- 15. Association TCDH. A National Oral Health Care Plan for Canadian Seniors: Making Progress Towards a

Vision of Oral Health For All. A Policy Paper – Executive Summary. June 2022.

- 16. Niesten D, Gerritsen AE, Leve V. Barriers and facilitators to integrate oral health care for older adults in general (basic) care in East Netherlands. Part 1: Normative integration. Gerodontology. 2021;38(2):154-65.
- 17. Secretariat SsOH. Oral Health Care Delivery in Residential Care Facilities: A Report of the Seniors' Oral Health Secretariat.; November 2011.
- 18. Yao CS, MacEntee MI. Inequity in oral health care for elderly Canadians: part 1. Oral health status. J Can Dent Assoc. 2013;79:d114.
- 19. Ettinger RL. The development of geriatric dental education programs in Canada: an update. J Can Dent Assoc. 2010;76:a1.
- 20. Griffin SO, Jones JA, Brunson D, Griffin PM, Bailey WD. Burden of oral disease among older adults and implications for public health priorities. Am J Public Health. 2012;102(3):411-8.
- 21. Borg-Bartolo R, Amberg H, Bieri O, Schirrmann E, Essig S. The provision of mobile dental services to dependent elderly people in Switzerland. Gerodontology. 2020;37(4):395-410.
- 22. Szebehely M, Trydegård GB. Home care for older people in Sweden: a universal model in transition. Health Soc Care Community. 2012;20(3):300-9.
- 23. Emanuel R, Quach J, Patel P, Witton R, Machuca-Vargas C, Taylor E. The attitudes of dental therapists, dental therapy educators and dental therapy students in the South of England towards domiciliary dentistry: a qualitative study. British Dental Journal. 2024.
- 24. Tynan A, Deeth L, McKenzie D. An integrated oral health program for rural residential aged care facilities: a mixed methods comparative study. BMC Health Serv Res. 2018;18(1):515.
- 25. Makansi N, Rousseau J, Bedos C. Domiciliary dentistry clinics: a multiple case study in the province of Quebec, Canada. BMC Health Serv Res. 2021;21(1):972.

- 26. Fathi H, Rousseau J, Bedos C. How do dentists perceive portable dentistry? A qualitative study conducted in Quebec. Gerodontology. 2023;40(2):231-7.
- 27. Kerr E, Watson S, McMullan J, Srinivasan M, McKenna GJ. General dentists' attitudes and perceived barriers in providing domiciliary dental care to older adults in long-term care facilities or their homes in Northern Ireland: A descriptive qualitative study. Gerodontology. 2022;39(3):257-65.
- 28. Idris S, Aghanwa S, O'Halloran J, Durey A, Slack-Smith L. Homebound oral care for older adults: A qualitative study of professional carers' perspectives in Perth, Western Australia. Gerodontology. 2024;41(1):94-100.
- 29. Hearn L, Slack-Smith L. Engaging dental professionals in residential aged-care facilities: staff perspectives regarding access to oral care. Aust J Prim Health. 2016;22(5):445-51.
- 30. Ardenghi DM, Wyatt C. Exploring the views of relatives of frail elderly patients about participating in a geriatric dentistry program. Spec Care Dentist. 2017;37(3):140-6.
- 31. Kengne Talla P, Rodrigues A, Hachey S, Affoo R, Basiren Q, Bouferguene S, et al. Oral health care and living environment for older people: a scoping review protocol. JBI Evid Synth. 2024;22(2):314-24.
- 32. Blasi AM, Vonhoegen L, Herrler A, Wicht MJ, Barbe AG. Older people's preferences and expectations of preventive oral care in the home. Gerodontology. 2024;41(2):241-50.
- 33. Larysa Baida OI. UNIVERSAL DESIGN IN HEALTHCARE. United Nations Development Progra- UNDP. 2019.
- 34. Institute TB. Defining Patient and Human Experience [Available from: https://theberylinstitute.org/defining-patient-experience/.
- 35. Black N, Jenkinson C. Measuring patients' experiences and outcomes. Bmj. 2009;339:b2495.
- 36. Bastemeijer CM, Boosman H, van Ewijk H, Verweij LM, Voogt L, Hazelzet JA. Patient experiences: a systematic review of quality improvement interventions in a hospital setting. Patient Relat Outcome Meas. 2019;10:157-69.

- 37. Karimbux N, John MT, Stern A, Mazanec MT, D'Amour A, Courtemanche J, et al. MEASURING PATIENT EXPERIENCE OF ORAL HEALTH CARE: A CALL TO ACTION. J Evid Based Dent Pract. 2023;23(1s):101788.
- 38. Fiske J, Gelbier S, Watson RM. Barriers to dental care in an elderly population resident in an inner city area. J Dent. 1990;18(5):236-42.
- 39. A Mintz ET PP, and R Emanuel. . Reported barriers to delivering preventative (oral health) advice and domiciliary dental care Journal of Disability and Oral Health 2022. 2022.
- 40. Hardgraves VM, Mitchell TV, Hanson CC, Simmer-Beck M. A qualitative analysis of oral health care needs in arkansas nursing facilities: the professional role of the dental hygienist. J Dent Hyg. 2014;88(6):353-63.
- 41. Beattie M, Murphy DJ, Atherton I, Lauder W. Instruments to measure patient experience of healthcare quality in hospitals: a systematic review. Syst Rev. 2015;4:97.
- 42. Quality AfHRa. What is patient exp experience? [Available from: https://www.ahrq.gov/cahps/about-cahps/patient-experience/index.html.
- 43. Doyle C, Lennox L, Bell D. A systematic review of evidence on the links between patient experience and clinical safety and effectiveness. BMJ Open. 2013;3(1).
- 44. Ahmed F, Burt J, Roland M. Measuring patient experience: concepts and methods. Patient. 2014;7(3):235-41.
- 45. Montreal) CCW-c. [Available from: https://www.ciussscentreouest.ca/.
- 46. Montreal) CCS-c. [Available from: https://ciusss-centresudmtl.gouv.qc.ca/.
- 47. Thorne SE. Interpretive description: qualitative research for applied practice. New York, NY: Routledge; 2016. Available from: https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&scope=site&db=nlebk&db=nlabk&AN=12 26829.
- 48. Thompson Burdine J, Thorne S, Sandhu G. Interpretive description: A flexible qualitative methodology for medical education research. Med Educ. 2021;55(3):336-43.

- 49. Kalengayi FKN, Hurtig A-K, Ahlm C, Ahlberg BM. "It is a challenge to do it the right way": an interpretive description of caregivers' experiences in caring for migrant patients in Northern Sweden. BMC Health Services Research. 2012;12(1):433.
- 50. Hunt MR. Strengths and challenges in the use of interpretive description: reflections arising from a study of the moral experience of health professionals in humanitarian work. Qual Health Res. 2009;19(9):1284-92.
- 51. O'Brien BC, Harris IB, Beckman TJ, Reed DA, Cook DA. Standards for reporting qualitative research: a synthesis of recommendations. Acad Med. 2014;89(9):1245-51.
- 52. Patton MQ. Qualitative research & evaluation methods: integrating theory and practice. Fourth edition ed. Thousand Oaks, California: SAGE Publications, Inc.; 2015.
- 53. Marshall MN. Sampling for qualitative research. Family practice. 1996;13(6):522-6.
- 54. Sutton J, Austin Z. Qualitative Research: Data Collection, Analysis, and Management. Can J Hosp Pharm. 2015;68(3):226-31.
- 55. Saunders B, Sim J, Kingstone T, Baker S, Waterfield J, Bartlam B, et al. Saturation in qualitative research: exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. Qual Quant. 2018;52(4):1893-907.
- 56. Lincoln Y, Guba E. But Is It Rigorous? Trustworthiness and Authenticity in Naturalistic Evaluation. New Directions for Program Evaluation. 2004;1986:73-84.
- 57. Lincoln YS, Guba EG. Naturalistic inquiry. Beverly Hills, Calif.: Sage Publications; 1985.
- 58. Miles MB, Huberman AM, Saldaña J. Qualitative data analysis: a methods sourcebook. Third edition ed. Thousand Oaks, Califorinia: SAGE Publications, Inc.; 2014.
- 59. Bernard HR, Ryan GW. Analyzing qualitative data: systematic approaches. Los Angeles [Calif.]: SAGE; 2010.
- 60. Cope D. Methods and Meanings: Credibility and Trustworthiness of Qualitative Research. Oncology nursing forum. 2014;41:89-91.
- 61. (CIHR) CIoHR. Strategy for Patient-Oriented Research- Capacity Development Framework-2015. 2015.

- 62. Beaven A, Marshman Z. Barriers and facilitators to accessing oral healthcare for older people in the UK: a scoping review. British Dental Journal. 2024.
- 63. da Mata C, Allen PF. Providing Oral Healthcare to Older Patients-Do We Have What It Takes? Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2023;20(13).
- 64. Penchansky R, Thomas JW. The concept of access: definition and relationship to consumer satisfaction. Med Care. 1981;19(2):127-40.
- 65. Saurman E. Improving access: modifying Penchansky and Thomas's Theory of Access. Journal of Health Services Research & Policy. 2015;21(1):36-9.
- 66. Manitoba Uo. Home Dental Care Program 1985 [Available from: https://umanitoba.ca/dentistry/community-and-partners/community-oral-health.
- 67. Bedi R, Devlin H, McCord JF, Schoolbread JW. Provision of domiciliary dental care for the older person by general dental practitioners in Scotland. Journal of Dentistry. 1992;20(3):167-70.
- 68. Sweeney MP, Manton S, Kennedy C, Macpherson LMD, Turner S. Provision of domiciliary dental care by Scottish dentists: a national survey. British Dental Journal. 2007;202(9):E23-E.
- 69. Andersson P, Renvert S, Sjogren P, Zimmerman M. Dental status in nursing home residents with domiciliary dental care in Sweden. Community Dent Health. 2017;34(4):203-7.
- 70. Chu KY, Wright FAC, Naganathan V, Stanaway F, Tran J, Cockrell D. Provision of domiciliary dental service to residential aged care facilities: A 3-year descriptive summary. Spec Care Dentist. 2024;44(3):787-96.
- 71. Yang SX, Lo ECM, Leung KCM. Outreach dental care programme for older adults using long-term care services in Hong Kong: A qualitative study. Gerodontology. 2024;41(1):141-8.
- 72. Girestam Croonquist C, Dalum J, Skott P, Sjögren P, Wårdh I, Morén E. Effects of Domiciliary Professional Oral Care for Care-Dependent Elderly in Nursing Homes Oral Hygiene, Gingival Bleeding, Root Caries and Nursing Staff's Oral Health Knowledge and Attitudes. Clin Interv Aging. 2020;15:1305-15.
- 73. McCullough ME, Kilpatrick SD, Emmons RA, Larson DB. Is gratitude a moral affect? Psychological bulletin. 2001;127(2):249-66.
- 74. Québec Gd. Enquête québécoise sur la santé de la population, 2020-2021. May 2023.

### **CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION**

This chapter summarizes key findings and discusses them with existing evidence on the experience of homebound seniors with home-based oral healthcare. Key areas for improvement are identified to address homebound seniors' needs and contribute to high-value home-based oral healthcare. The following sections highlight an overview of limitations and strengths of the study. Implications and future research needs are considered. Then, knowledge mobilization is discussed in the last part of this chapter.

# 5.1 Summary of Findings

Patient experience is a key component of the quality of care and is grounded in the person-centred care and value-based oral health paradigms.<sup>161</sup> In Quebec, this concept is especially valuable because of the demographic change of the population, the continued rise of seniors with reduced mobility, and seniors' aspiration to age in place and at home as long as possible.<sup>29, 132</sup> According to a scoping review on challenges and opportunities for domiciliary dental service for the seniors,<sup>20</sup> a strong partnership among key stakeholders is vital to enhance both access to and quality of oral healthcare for seniors.<sup>20</sup>

This participatory project with decision makers provides an in-depth understanding of experiences of homebound seniors with home-based oral healthcare services under the Dent Ma Maison project. Three major themes were highlighted: oral healthcare hurdles for seniors, appreciation for home-based oral healthcare services, and enhancing home-based oral healthcare.

The study participants the burden of the geriatric syndrome and the physical frailty<sup>58</sup> characterizing homebound seniors, which may affect their functional abilities such as dental hygiene and flossing, contributing in turn to the higher prevalence and incidence of oral diseases. Homebound seniors expressed relief from the pressure, stress and the financial burden associated with accessing private dental clinics. They focused on eating-related issues from oral diseases and the impacts on their quality of life. In a narrative review on seniors oral health (2022), the authors reported on frequent dental diseases and conditions such as periodontal diseases, edentulism, oral mucosal lesions, oral infections and temporomandibular pathology with seniors.<sup>179</sup> Additional multilevel factors whether systemic (e.g., lack of policies and guidelines), or organizational (e.g.,

inadequate infrastructure), or associated with the dental oral healthcare provider (e.g., attitudes and beliefs) or caregiver (e.g., fatigue, seniors, lack of training)<sup>20</sup>, may contribute to their unmet oral health needs and poor oral health. <sup>68, 10, 69, 12</sup>

All the participants in the study reported positive experiences with both the oral healthcare and the dental team's compassionate approach. They reported a high level of satisfaction with free services and for the oral care that was tailored to their needs. 138, 180 Communication, as well as the dental team's attitudes and competences, were identified as crucial factors in the delivery of oral healthcare services to this population with special care needs. 12, 116 The Dent Ma Maison project was perceived to represent the future of oral healthcare, with its capacity to respond to the preferences and expectations of homebound seniors. The seniors recognized it as timely, convenient and patient-centred care that provided basic oral health services to them in their living environment. They expressed how they were treated with dignity in a manner that met their expectations, preferences, and care needs. Their statements are also corroborated in a study on experiences of seniors showing that home-based oral healthcare provides relief from stress associated with extensive travel distances, making access to care more convenient and less burdensome for seniors, as well as reducing anxiety and discomfort, with care provided in familiar surroundings. 73

Given the increasing preference of seniors for "aging at home," family caregivers play a crucial role in supporting homebound seniors. Seniors' family caregivers help with everyday activities such as medical appointments, transitions between settings of care, self-management tasks, medication management, and foods. These responsibilities may significantly affect their physical, emotional, and financial health and life, as well as causing social isolation and work productivity loss, Isl further exacerbating caregivers' stress, I particularly when these caregivers are also seniors. As reported by Ardenghi et al. (2017), Caregivers have expressed concern about navigating through the dental care system. Home-based oral healthcare alleviates their logistical related-stress, making their caregiving responsibilities more manageable while improving seniors' overall wellbeing. A similar result was reported by the study participants regarding the physical, social and financial impacts of free home-based oral healthcare.

Among key areas for improvement, the study participants remarked on the sudden discontinuity of the Dent Ma Maison pilot project. The logistic challenges of this project were quite similar to other domiciliary oral health programs (such as the Outreach Dental Care Program in Hong Kong), particularly regarding the limited basket of services. 184 Similarly, authors of a recent scoping review on domiciliary oral care identified oral hygiene procedures and oral health screenings as the most common delivered services, with restorative care and prosthetic dental care less common. <sup>20</sup> A few study participants highlighted the lack of prosthetic services in the basket of services, even though the seniors were previously informed about which oral healthcare services were included under the project. Our basket of services included prophylaxis, periodontal scaling, fluoride varnish application, and periodic examinations as elements of preventive care, whereas restorations and extractions were considered curative treatments. In addition, there were emergency examinations and rebasing of prostheses, but the fabrication of prostheses was not included in the pilot study. However, the need for comprehensive dental care that goes beyond basic hygiene and screening and provides services for oral function restoration, and the need for tailoring interventions based on needs and demands of patients and their care environments, was also highlighted, <sup>20</sup> as well as the need to increase the study of geriatric dentistry within the scope of dental education. 52, 63, 64

To improve the spread of home-based oral healthcare services for homebound seniors, the study participants made a few recommendations for equitable home-based oral healthcare. Firstly, they highlighted affordability, mostly for those with limited financial resources. Cost is still one of the major barriers in accessing oral healthcare, especially for marginalized populations such as seniors. <sup>185, 65, 10</sup> However, despite the implementation of the recent Canadian Dental Care Plan (CDCP) aiming to improve the affordability of oral healthcare, it focuses on independent seniors and gives limited attention to homebound seniors. <sup>84</sup> Secondly, the study participants suggested expanding this service to all the people with reduced mobility irrespective of their age. Thirdly, the frequency of dental checkups was identified as a strategy to ensure timely access to oral healthcare. Increasing the frequency of dental visits to 6 months was a strong recommendation to improve access to oral healthcare. <sup>79, 184</sup> Along with this there were strong recommendations to take measures for raising awareness to promote adequate utilisation of these services, thus ensuring they reach the population in need was strongly emphasised by participants. Awareness of preventive services has been seen to have a direct relation with their utilisation, as highlighted by

Chen et al (2013) reporting levels of awareness and utilisation of preventive services among adults aged 65 years and above under the Taiwan Government's National Health Insurance (NHI). Finally, a focus was underscored on the inclusion of prosthesis fabrication in home-based oral healthcare services.

# 5.2 Limitations of the Study

While this study provides valuable insights into the experiences of homebound seniors with homebased oral healthcare services, several limitations must be acknowledged. First, the study sample size was relatively small, which raises concern over the transferability of the findings. However, according to literature, approximately 9-17 interviews are considered as sufficient to achieve saturation, making the number of interviews here adequate within the interpretive description methodology. 187, 188 Our findings reflect the vision of people receiving home-based care through the Quebec health regime and living in urban regions. However, they may not accurately represent the needs of homebound seniors living in rural and remote regions, or of homebound seniors receiving private home-based oral healthcare. Secondly, as an early researcher in qualitative design, having received a strong training on qualitative research, it was possible for me to skip some content for an in-depth data analysis. However, credibility was ensured through peerdebriefing with my supervisors and maintaining an audit trial to document research decisions and ensure transparency. 189 To ensure the trustworthiness of the findings, we maintained reflexivity and provided detailed documentation throughout the research process. 190 Additionally, the COVID-19 restrictions for in-person meetings, the medical status of this target population, and the ethical challenges for a multicentric study all led to a delay on the beginning of interviews, contributing to a potential recall bias and the unavailability of participants. However, we were able to conduct individual and dyadic interviews, as well as remote interviews to collect valuable data and achieve saturation.

### 5.3 Strengths of the Study

To our knowledge, this is the first pilot study on home-based oral healthcare services developed in partnership with key stakeholders in patient-oriented research.<sup>191</sup> Secondly, this project was built on the strong collaboration with key stakeholders involving the patients' partners, policymakers, and various other stakeholders<sup>191, 192</sup> to address the oral health needs of homebound seniors. The

involvement of the patient's partner helped to ensure contextual relevance of the project to the patient's needs. 193

Strong partnerships are imperative to enhance relevance, credibility and applicability of the research findings. <sup>194</sup> Integrated care models improve accessibility, quality, and efficiency, ensuring that individuals with complex health and social needs receive comprehensive and well-coordinated support <sup>103</sup> contributing to a more responsive and sustainable healthcare system. <sup>103</sup> Thirdly, the diversity of the participant pool strengthens the study's findings, demonstrating that home-based oral healthcare services have the potential to reach vulnerable populations and deliver quality care. The findings of this study may be transferable to other contexts and settings, as we used purposive sampling to recruit participants. Finally, this project is innovative in focusing on a key indicator of the quality of care. Understanding the experience of seniors with healthcare delivery is crucial for improving care quality, patient satisfaction, and health outcomes. A positive experience fosters trust, enhances treatment adherence, and reduces dental anxiety, leading to better long-term oral health. Our focus on understanding the experiences of patients and caregivers with the Dent Ma Maison project in Quebec is essential for quality improvement and ensuring that these services address their unique needs and realities.

### **5.4 Future Directions**

### **5.4.1 Future Directions for Practice**

With an increasing preference for "Aging at home," home-based oral healthcare services are becoming an essential alternative scope of dental practice.<sup>20, 125</sup> Our findings highlight the importance of communication, the dental team's qualifications and competences, and the strong value of empathic and person-centered oral healthcare in dentistry. By ensuring strong communication between the healthcare team, dentists, patients and their caregivers, patients can receive high-quality, comprehensive care tailored to their needs, regardless of their location. While the study participants didn't point to the lack of training, this concern has often been reported as an obstacle to home-based oral healthcare. Future dentists should be aware of the societal challenges across the world, and of the aging population and its impact on oral health and be equipped to handle homebound seniors' unique and unmet oral health needs. Additionally, enhancing skills and knowledge of dentists in treating geriatric patients in the home setting can

improve the number of dental professionals in this domain, potentially improving service delivery. A lack of training in home-based oral healthcare and mobile dentistry in dental curricula has been seen as a major barrier limiting the willingness and ability of dental teams to treat geriatric patients in domiciliary care. Specialized education in geriatric dentistry will help in addressing these workforce challenges. Involving other oral healthcare professionals such as dental hygienists can further expand access to preventive care. Their role in oral hygiene education and early detection of oral health issues can significantly contribute to better oral health outcomes for homebound seniors. Moreover, training of caregivers in oral health has been seen as an effective method in daily oral hygiene maintenance. <sup>20, 196</sup>

#### **5.4.2 Future Directions for Research**

The Dent Ma Maison pilot project was implemented to identify the factors and the enablers to implement this project. These findings may inform new research questions, as the study participants highlighted many key points to improve the implementation of home-based oral healthcare. Future studies are needed to assess the effectiveness of these services. This pilot project serves well as a feasibility study aiming to evaluate the potential for scaling up such an innovation in other regions. Additionally, comparative studies with other regions in rural Quebec or with different healthcare models may provide deeper insights for oral healthcare delivery improvement. The key components derived from this qualitative study could be used to develop a questionnaire on oral healthcare experiences of homebound seniors with home-based oral healthcare.

# **5.4.3 Future Directions for Policymakers**

Integrating home-based oral healthcare services into the primary healthcare system is crucial to improve timely, equitable access to high-quality oral healthcare services. This initiative is a complement to the whole dental program for seniors in Quebec, and to the CDCP. Set, 89 Policies and guidelines are critical for the successful integration and support of home-based oral healthcare in the primary healthcare system. Of Government should prioritize developing strong and cohesive policies that recognize domiciliary dental care as an important component of geriatric healthcare. This pilot study serves as a foundational step in demonstrating the feasibility and benefits of such services. Finally, establishing regulations that ensure affordability and accessibility, particularly for low-income seniors, or other populations with reduced mobility regardless of

sociodemographic variables, will help make these services more inclusive and equitable. These results will inform decision-makers and policymakers on how to refine their strategies to leverage enablers and overcome barriers to improve the successful implementation of home-based oral healthcare for example, by offering a more comprehensive basket of services.

# 5.5 Knowledge Mobilisation

To effectively disseminate the study findings, they were presented at various provincial and national conferences, using different channels and targeting dental students, dental educators, researchers, decision makers and policymakers:

### Oral Presentations:

- Oral Presentation at the Canadian Association of Public Health Dentistry Conference (CAPHD) on September 20, 2024.
- Oral presentation at Research Day organized by the Faculty of Dental Medicine and Oral Health Sciences in McGill University on April 24, 2024.

### **Poster Presentations:**

- Poster presentation at the Canadian Oral Health Summit (COHS) in Halifax on July 21, 2024.
- Poster presentation at Network's Science Day by Oral and Bone Health Research Network (RSBO) on November 28, 2024.
- Poster presentation at Journee's dentaire internationales du Quebec (JDIQ) on May 28, 2024.

### **CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSIONS**

The findings of this participatory and qualitative study highlight the impact of home-based oral healthcare services on the oral health and overall wellbeing of homebound seniors. Participants emphasized the critical role of these services in overcoming accessibility barriers and addressing disparities in oral healthcare. The positive feedback on the Dent Ma Maison project underscores its efficacy as a patient-centered, community-based oral healthcare intervention for improving seniors' quality of life. Home-based oral healthcare delivery serves as a promising and vital alternative for delivering oral healthcare for vulnerable populations like homebound seniors and also addresses all five dimensions of Penchansky's theory of access to care. <sup>198</sup>

These study findings have some implications for practice, policy, and research. They may help oral healthcare providers to tailor their services to better meet the unique needs of seniors population and deliver it with compassion. Furthermore, they may provide insights to policymakers in exploring new opportunities to address the unique needs and barriers of homebound seniors in accessing oral healthcare services. Future research should further explore the scaling of this project in other regions with homebound populations. In addition, it will be relevant to explore other key partners' perspectives on the implementation of home-based oral healthcare. More collaborative efforts between oral and general healthcare providers, policymakers, and community organizations will be essential in optimizing home-based oral healthcare services and integrating them into healthcare systems.

### LIST OF REFERENCES

- 1. The Lancet Public H. Ageing: a 21st century public health challenge? The Lancet Public Health 2017;2(7):e297.
- 2. Organisation WWH. Ageing.
- 3. Beard JR, Officer A, de Carvalho IA, et al. The World report on ageing and health: a policy framework for healthy ageing. The Lancet 2016;387(10033):2145-54.
- 4. Poudel P, Paudel G, Acharya R, et al. Oral health and healthy ageing: a scoping review. BMC Geriatrics 2024;24(1):33.
- 5. Yu Y-H. Oral health: integral component of overall health and important determinant of ageing. The Lancet Healthy Longevity.
- 6. Atanda AJ, Livinski AA, London SD, et al. Tooth retention, health, and quality of life in older adults: a scoping review. BMC Oral Health 2022;22(1):185.
- 7. Steele J, Walls A. Strategies to improve the quality of oral health care for frail and dependent older people. BMJ Quality & Safety 1997;6(3):165-69.
- 8. Levy BB, Goodman J, Eskander A. Oral healthcare disparities in Canada: filling in the gaps. Can J Public Health 2023;114(1):139-45.
- 9. Strayer MS. Perceived barriers to oral health care among the homebound. Spec Care Dentist 1995;15(3):113-8.
- 10. Borreani E, Wright D, Scambler S, Gallagher JE. Minimising barriers to dental care in older people. BMC Oral Health 2008;8(1):7.
- 11. Abdelrahim R, Salah Gaafar S, Khanam K, Albalawi M. Knowledge and Attitude of Dentists Toward Geriatric Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Cureus 2023;15(11):e48339.
- 12. de Sam Lazaro SL, Nitschke Durben AM, Kline JJ. Barriers and Opportunities to Support the Oral Health of Older Adults: A Rapid Review of Health Policy and Systems. Int J Aging Hum Dev 2023;96(1):51-62.
- 13. Aida J, Takeuchi K, Furuta M, et al. Burden of Oral Diseases and Access to Oral Care in an Ageing Society. International Dental Journal 2022;72(4, Supplement):S5-S11.
- 14. Chávez EM, Kossioni A, Fukai K. Policies Supporting Oral Health in Ageing Populations Are Needed Worldwide. Int Dent J 2022;72(4s):S27-s38.

- 15. Quality AAfHRa. AHRQ Strategic Plan for Health System Transformation to Optimize Health, Functional Status, and Well-being among Older Adults; August 2024.
- 16. Nundy S, Cooper LA, Mate KS. The Quintuple Aim for Health Care Improvement: A New Imperative to Advance Health Equity. JAMA 2022;327(6):521-22.
- 17. Organisation W-WH. WHO's work on the UN Decade of Healthy Ageing (2021–2030)-Join the movement on the Decade Platform.
- 18. Quebec Go. Aging and living together: At home, in One's Community, in Quebec: A policy.
- Lim MA, Borromeo GL. DOMICILIARY SERVICES IMPROVE ACCESS TO DENTAL CARE FOR FUNCTIONALLY DEPENDENT OLDER ADULTS. Innovation in Aging 2019;3(Supplement\_1):S492-S92.
- 20. Rani H, Mohd-Dom TN, Meei TI, et al. Investigating the Challenges and Opportunities of Domiciliary Oral Care for the Older Adults: A Scoping Review. Healthcare (Basel) 2024;12(23).
- 21. Fiske J. The delivery of oral care services to elderly people living in a noninstitutionalized setting. J Public Health Dent 2000;60(4):321-5.
- 22. Public Health Agency of C. Aging and chronic diseases: a profile of Canadian seniors. Ottawa, Ontario: Public Health Agency of Canada = Agence de la santé publique du Canada; 2020.
- 23. Canada Go. Demographic estimates by age and gender, provinces and territories: Interactive dashboard. In: Canada S, editor.
- 24. Canada S. A portrait of Canada's growing population aged 85 and older from the 2021 Census. 27 April 2022.
- 25. Canada Go. Prevalence of Chronic Diseases and Risk Factors among Canadians aged 65 years and older. In: Canada S, editor; 24-12-2020.
- 26. Canada S. The disability rate in Canada increased in 2022; 2024-04-03.
- 27. Gouvernement du Québec IdlsdQ. Perspectives démographiques du Québec et de ses régions, 2021-2071; October 2024.
- 28. Québec Gd. Enquête québécoise sur la santé de la population, 2020-2021.; May 2023.
- 29. Quebec Go. Portrait des personnes aînées au Québec. In: Quebec Idlsd, editor; 18 May 2023.

- 30. Balcombe NR, Sinclair A. Ageing: definitions, mechanisms and the magnitude of the problem. Best Practice & Research Clinical Gastroenterology 2001;15(6):835-49.
- 31. Gaviano L, Pili R, Petretto AD, et al. Definitions of Ageing According to the Perspective of the Psychology of Ageing: A Scoping Review. Geriatrics (Basel) 2024;9(5).
- 32. Thomson WM, Smith MB, Hugo FN, Mojon P. Demography of Aging and Frailty, and the Epidemiology of Oral Conditions. Oral Healthcare and the Frail Elder; 2025. p. 1-15.
- 33. Kyriazis M. Aging as "Time-Related Dysfunction": A Perspective. Front Med (Lausanne) 2020;7:371.
- 34. Vleck MV. Age-inclusive language: Are you using it in your writing and everyday speech? Harvey A. FRiedman centre for aging, Brown School and Center for Aging Graduate Research Fellow: Washington University in St. Louis; 2022.
- 35. Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, et al. Frailty in Older Adults: Evidence for a Phenotype. The Journals of Gerontology: Series A 2001;56(3):M146-M57.
- 36. Xue QL. The frailty syndrome: definition and natural history. Clin Geriatr Med 2011;27(1):1-15.
- 37. people BGSIhfo. Age and Ageing journal: 50th Anniversary; 2022.
- 38. Gordon EH, Hubbard RE. Frailty: understanding the difference between age and ageing. Age and Ageing 2022;51(8).
- 39. Aging NIo. Understanding the Dynamics of Ageing Process. 2020.
- 40. Dibello V, Zupo R, Sardone R, et al. Oral frailty and its determinants in older age: a systematic review. The Lancet Healthy Longevity 2021;2(8):e507-e20.
- 41. Zhao H, Wu B, Zhou Y, et al. Oral frailty: a concept analysis. BMC Oral Health 2024;24(1):594.
- 42. Thomson WM. The life course and oral health in old age. J R Soc N Z 2024;54(3):316-24.
- 43. Organisation W-WH. Ageing and health: WHO; 1 October 2024.
- 44. SF G. Developmental Biology. 6th edition. 6th ed. Sunderland (MS): Sinauer Associates; 2000.
- 45. Bowling A. Ageing well: quality of life in old age. Maidenhead: Open University Press; 2005.

- 46. Menassa M, Stronks K, Khatami F, et al. Concepts and definitions of healthy ageing: a systematic review and synthesis of theoretical models. eClinicalMedicine 2023;56.
- 47. Lin K, Ning Y, Mumtaz A, Li H. Exploring the Relationships Between Four Aging Ideals: A Bibliometric Study. Front Public Health 2021;9:762591.
- 48. Organisation W-WH. Healthy ageing and functional ability; 2020.
- 49. Cereda F. A Comprehensive Overview of Active and Healthy Aging: Incorporating Education and Physical Activity. Journal of Sports Science 2023(11).
- 50. Coordination UNSCEBf. Leaving No One Behind: Equality and Non-Discrimination at the Heart of Sustainable Development

The United Nations System Shared Framework for Action; 2017.

- 51. (MD) B. Oral Health in America: Advances and Challenges; 2021.
- 52. Griffin SO, Jones JA, Brunson D, Griffin PM, Bailey WD. Burden of oral disease among older adults and implications for public health priorities. Am J Public Health 2012;102(3):411-8.
- 53. Murray Thomson W. Epidemiology of oral health conditions in older people. Gerodontology 2014;31(s1):9-16.
- 54. Savoca MR, Arcury TA, Leng X, et al. Impact of denture usage patterns on dietary quality and food avoidance among older adults. J Nutr Gerontol Geriatr 2011;30(1):86-102.
- 55. Desai JP, Nair RU. Oral Health Factors Related to Rapid Oral Health Deterioration among Older Adults: A Narrative Review. J Clin Med 2023;12(9).
- 56. Nicholson K, Liu W, Fitzpatrick D, et al. Prevalence of multimorbidity and polypharmacy among adults and older adults: a systematic review. The Lancet Healthy Longevity 2024;5(4):e287-e96.
- 57. Gill B, Harris A, Tredwin C, Gill P. Multimorbidity and oral health: need for new models of care. Fam Med Community Health 2020;8(4).
- 58. Inouye SK, Studenski S, Tinetti ME, Kuchel GA. Geriatric syndromes: clinical, research, and policy implications of a core geriatric concept. J Am Geriatr Soc 2007;55(5):780-91.
- 59. Fu D, Shu X, Zhou G, et al. Connection between oral health and chronic diseases. MedComm 2025;6(1).

- 60. Cherry-Peppers G, Fryer C, Jackson AD, et al. A review of the risks and relationships between oral health and chronic diseases. J Natl Med Assoc 2024.
- Watt RG, Serban S. Multimorbidity: a challenge and opportunity for the dental profession. British Dental Journal 2020;229(5):282-86.
- 62. Botelho J, Mascarenhas P, Viana J, et al. An umbrella review of the evidence linking oral health and systemic noncommunicable diseases. Nat Commun 2022;13(1):7614.
- da Mata C, Allen PF. Providing Oral Healthcare to Older Patients-Do We Have What It Takes? Int J Environ Res Public Health 2023;20(13).
- 64. Canadian Academy of Health S. Improving access to oral health care for vulnerable people living in Canada. Ottawa [Ontario]: Canadian Academy of Health Sciences; 2014.
- 65. Gondro JV, Murphy K, Clark J, Fortin Y. Factors associated with the use of oral health care services among seniors in Canada. Health Rep 2024;35(6):16-28.
- 66. Canada H. Report on the findings of the oral health component of the Canadian Health Measures Survey 2007-2009. Ottawa, Ontario.
- 67. Canada S. Self-reported oral health problems in the Canadian population living in the provinces, November 2023 to March 2024. Statistics Canada News Daily; 23-10-2024.
- 68. Beaven A, Marshman Z. Barriers and facilitators to accessing oral healthcare for older people in the UK: a scoping review. British Dental Journal 2024.
- 69. da Rosa SV, Moysés SJ, Theis LC, et al. Barriers in Access to Dental Services Hindering the Treatment of People with Disabilities: A Systematic Review. Int J Dent 2020;2020:9074618.
- 70. De Rubeis V, Jiang Y, de Groh M, et al. Barriers to oral care: a cross-sectional analysis of the Canadian longitudinal study on aging (CLSA). BMC Oral Health 2023;23(1):294.
- 71. Canada Go. Canadian Dental Care Plan Statistics. 2025.
- 72. Canada S. More than one-third of Canadians reported they had not visited a dental professional in the previous 12 months, 2022; 06-11-2023.
- 73. Lewis DA, Mann J. Domiciliary Dental Care and Supporting Access to Dental Services. In: Doshi M, Geddis-Regan A, editors. Oral Health and Dental Care in the Ageing Population. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2022. p. 261-87.
- 74. Kim J, Roy I, Mier M, Shukla A, Weir P. Impact of lack of transportation on access to dental care. Heliyon 2024:e40657.

- 75. Chávez EM. Oral health issues of late Baby Boomers (1956-1964). Spec Care Dentist 2023;43(3):320-27.
- 76. Ghanbari-Jahromi M, Bastani P, Jalali FS, Delavari S. Factors affecting oral and dental services` utilization among Elderly: a scoping review. BMC Oral Health 2023;23(1):597.
- 77. Tahani B, Manesh SS. Knowledge, attitude and practice of dentists toward providing care to the geriatric patients. BMC Geriatr 2021;21(1):399.
- 78. Aranha ERM, Felipe DF, Garcia LF. Exploring ageism and elderly care in dentistry: A comprehensive scoping review. Journal of Dentistry 2025;153:105524.
- 79. Yao C. inequity in oral health care for elderly Canadians. Part 3. Journal of the Canadian Dental Association 2014;80.
- 80. Borreani E, Jones K, Scambler S, Gallagher JE. Informing the debate on oral health care for older people: a qualitative study of older people's views on oral health and oral health care. Gerodontology 2010;27(1):11-8.
- 81. Kengne Talla P, Rodrigues A, Hachey S, et al. Oral health care and living environment for older people: a scoping review protocol. JBI Evid Synth 2024;22(2):314-24.
- 82. Organisation WWH. Universal Health Coverage (UHC).
- 83. Organisation WWH. Draft Global Oral Health Action Plan (2023–2030); 2023.
- 84. Canada Go Canadian Dental Care Plan.
  - "https://www.canada.ca/en/services/benefits/dental/dental-care-plan.html?utm\_campaign=hc-sc-canadian-dental-care-plan-24-25&utm\_source=ggl&utm\_medium=sem&utm\_content=ad-text-en&adv=611850&utm\_term=canadian+dental+care+plan&gad\_source=1&gclid=CjwKC
    AjwmaO4BhAhEiwA5p4YL1kcL0MR5ywO10W76q44xjlP5vvS18JgEysGnCVWPgTcT
    4HQqTN3uRoCXnIQAvD\_BwE&gclsrc=aw.ds".
- 85. Canada Go. Disability tax credit (DTC); 2025.
- 86. Canada Go. Canadian Dental Care Plan: Examples of co-payments and additional charges factsheet; 2024.
- 87. Canada Go. Coordination of benefits between the CDCP and Quebec's dental programs; 2024.
- 88. sociaux GoQ-MdlSedS. Québec CHSLD Dental Care and Daily Hygiene Program Services for residents. In: MSSS, editor; 2020.

- 89. Quebec Go. Quebec Oral Care and Daily Oral Care Program in CHSLDs; 2024.
- 90. Quebec Go. Dental care and dentures; 2023.
- 91. Ontario Go Ontario Seniors Dental Care Program (OSDCP). 2024. "https://www.ontario.ca/page/dental-care-seniors".
- 92. Alberta Go Dental and Optical Assistance for Seniors. 2024. "https://open.alberta.ca/publications/dental-and-optical-assistance-for-seniors-programs".
- 93. Farmer J, Singhal S, Ghoneim A, et al. Environmental scan of publicly financed dental care in Canada: 2022 update; 2022.
- 94. Columbia GoB Dental coverage. 2022. "https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/family-social-supports/income-assistance/on-assistance/supplements/dental".
- 95. Island GoPE Long-Term/Community Care Preventative Dental Care Program. 2025. "https://www.princeedwardisland.ca/en/information/health-pei/dental-health-services".
- 96. Island GoPE. Provincial Dental Care Program; 2025.
- 97. University M Mobile Dental Clinic: McGill University.

  "https://www.mcgill.ca/dentistry/clinics/community-clinics/mobile-dental-clinic".
- 98. Manitoba Uo Home Dental Care Program. 1985.

  "https://umanitoba.ca/dentistry/community-and-partners/community-oral-health".
- 99. Columbia UoB UBC Geriatric Dentistry Program. 2002. "https://gdp.dentistry.ubc.ca".
- 100. Chen A. The scope of practice of geriatric dentistry in British Columbia: an exploratory study [Manuscript]. Vancouver: University of British Columbia; 2023.
- 101. Delnoij D, Klazinga N, Glasgow IK. Integrated care in an international perspective. Int J Integr Care 2002;2:e04.
- 102. Harnagea H, Lamothe L, Couturier Y, et al. From theoretical concepts to policies and applied programmes: the landscape of integration of oral health in primary care. BMC Oral Health 2018;18(1):23.
- 103. Emami E, Harnagea H, Girard F, et al. Integration of oral health into primary care: a scoping review protocol. BMJ Open 2016;6(10):e013807.
- 104. Christian B, George A, Veginadu P, et al. Strategies to integrate oral health into primary care: a systematic review. BMJ Open 2023;13(7).
- 105. Prasad M, Manjunath C, Murthy AK, et al. Integration of oral health into primary health care: A systematic review. J Family Med Prim Care 2019;8(6):1838-45.

- 106. Monajem S. Integration of oral health into primary health care: the role of dental hygienists and the WHO stewardship. Int J Dent Hyg 2006;4(1):47-51.
- 107. Aquilanti L, Santarelli A, Mascitti M, Procaccini M, Rappelli G. Dental Care Access and the Elderly: What Is the Role of Teledentistry? A Systematic Review. International journal of environmental research and public health 2020;17(23).
- 108. Bhamra IB, Gallagher JE, Patel R. Telehealth technologies in care homes: a gap for dentistry? J Public Health (Oxf) 2024;46(1):e106-e35.
- 109. Talla PK, Rodrigues A. What does teledentistry mean? Mapping of current definitions. Digit Health 2024;10:20552076241292681.
- 110. Ali SA, Al-Qahtani AMA, Al Banai SR, et al. Role of Newly Introduced Teledentistry Service in the Management of Dental Emergencies During COVID-19 Pandemic in Qatar: A Cross-Sectional Analysis. Telemed J E Health 2022;28(11):1623-32.
- 111. Ben-Omran MO, Livinski AA, Kopycka-Kedzierawski DT, et al. The use of teledentistry in facilitating oral health for older adults: A scoping review. J Am Dent Assoc 2021;152(12):998-1011.e17.
- 112. Di Spirito F, Bramanti A, Cannatà D, et al. Oral and Dental Needs and Teledentistry Applications in the Elderly: Real-Time Surveillance Using Google Trends. Applied Sciences 2023;13(9):5416.
- 113. Tan SHX, Lee CKJ, Yong CW, Ding YY. Scoping review: Facilitators and barriers in the adoption of teledentistry among older adults. Gerodontology 2021;38(4):351-65.
- 114. Apelian N, Vergnes J-N, Christophe B. Humanizing clinical dentistry throug a person-centered model. The International Journal of Whole Person Care 2014;1.
- 115. Krust KS, Schuchman L. Out-of-office dentistry: an alternative delivery system. Spec Care Dentist 1991;11(5):189-93.
- 116. Makansi N, Rousseau J, Bedos C. Domiciliary dentistry clinics: a multiple case study in the province of Quebec, Canada. BMC Health Serv Res 2021;21(1):972.
- 117. Lee EE, Thomas CA. Mobile and portable dentistry: alternative treatment services for the elderly. Special Care in Dentistry 2001;21(4):153-55.
- 118. Ganavadiya R, Chandrashekar B, Goel P, Hongal S, Jain M. Mobile and portable dental services catering to the basic oral health needs of the underserved population in developing countries: a proposed model. Ann Med Health Sci Res 2014;4(3):293-304.

- 119. Srinivasan M, Janssens B, MacDonald D, Müller F. Mobile Dental Services. Oral Healthcare and the Frail Elder; 2025. p. 303-15.
- 120. Yu CH, Wang YH, Lee YH, Chang YC. The implementation of domiciliary dental care from a university hospital: A retrospective review of the patients and performed treatments in central Taiwan from 2010 to 2020. J Dent Sci 2022;17(1):96-99.
- 121. Landers S, Madigan E, Leff B, et al. The Future of Home Health Care: A Strategic Framework for Optimizing Value. Home Health Care Manag Pract 2016;28(4):262-78.
- 122. Borg-Bartolo R, Amberg H, Bieri O, Schirrmann E, Essig S. The provision of mobile dental services to dependent elderly people in Switzerland. Gerodontology 2020;37(4):395-410.
- 123. Szebehely M, Trydegård GB. Home care for older people in Sweden: a universal model in transition. Health Soc Care Community 2012;20(3):300-9.
- 124. Emanuel R, Quach J, Patel P, et al. The attitudes of dental therapists, dental therapy educators and dental therapy students in the South of England towards domiciliary dentistry: a qualitative study. British Dental Journal 2024.
- 125. Ornstein KA, DeCherrie L, Gluzman R, et al. Significant Unmet Oral Health Needs of Homebound Elderly Adults. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 2015;63(1):151-57.
- 126. Lee EE, Thomas CA, Vu T. Mobile and portable dentistry: alternative treatment services for the elderly. Spec Care Dentist 2001;21(4):153-5.
- 127. Idris S, Aghanwa S, O'Halloran J, Durey A, Slack-Smith L. Homebound oral care for older adults: A qualitative study of professional carers' perspectives in Perth, Western Australia. Gerodontology 2024;41(1):94-100.
- 128. Abed H, Dziedzic A, Sharka R, Hakeem FF. Domiciliary dentistry during pandemic time: Enabling access to dental care and supporting persons with disabilities. Gerodontology 2021;38(3):233-34.
- 129. Zaidman B, Awojobi O, Lewis D, Dickinson C, Gallagher J. Development of a Domiciliary Dentistry Risk Assessment form by means of modified e-Delphi study using an expert panel. J Disabil Oral Health 2021;21(4):80-88.

- 130. Monaghan NP, Morgan MZ. What proportion of dental care in care homes could be met by direct access to dental therapists or dental hygienists? British Dental Journal 2015;219(11):531-34.
- 131. sociaux CdmdlSedS. La Commissaire à la santé etau bien-être se penchera sur la performance dessoins à domicile; March 25, 2022.
- 132. Quebec Go. AGING WELL AT HOME. TOME 4: A MUCH-NEEDED TRANSFORMATION Executive Summary

Mandate on home care and support services; 2024.

- 133. Quebec Go. LA FIERTÉ DE VIEILLIR PLAN D'ACTION GOUVERNEMENTAL 2024-2029; 2024.
- 134. Scambler S, Delgado M, Asimakopoulou K. Defining patient-centred care in dentistry? A systematic review of the dental literature. British dental journal 2016;221(8):477-84.
- 135. Wolf JA, Niederhauser V, Marshburn D, LaVela SL. Reexamining "Defining Patient Experience": The human experience in healthcare. Patient Experience Journal 2021;8(1):16-29.
- 136. Ahmed F, Burt J, Roland M. Measuring patient experience: concepts and methods. Patient 2014;7(3):235-41.
- 137. Larson E, Sharma J, Bohren MA, Tunçalp Ö. When the patient is the expert: measuring patient experience and satisfaction with care. Bull World Health Organ 2019;97(8):563-69.
- 138. Epstein RM, Street RL, Jr. The values and value of patient-centered care. Ann Fam Med 2011;9(2):100-3.
- 139. Jamieson Gilmore K, Corazza I, Coletta L, Allin S. The uses of Patient Reported Experience Measures in health systems: A systematic narrative review. Health Policy 2023;128:1-10.
- 140. Institute of Medicine Committee on Quality of Health Care in A. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US)

Copyright 2001 by the National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.; 2001.

- 141. Walimbe V, Brismée J-M, Kulkarni S, Malani R. Patient reported experience measures: a new scale that records another dimension of patient care quality important in clinical practice Letter to the Editor. European Journal of Physiotherapy 2024;26(2):119-22.
- 142. Jason W, Victoria N, Dianne M, Sherri L. Defining Patient Experience. Patient Experience Journal; 2014.
- 143. Adams C, Harrison R, Wolf JA. The Evolution of Patient Experience: From Holistic Care to Human Experience. Patient Experience Journal 2024;11(1):4-13.
- 144. Institute P Patient experience. 2025. "<a href="https://picker.org/how-we-can-help/patient-experience/">https://picker.org/how-we-can-help/patient-experience/</a>".
- 145. Institute TB Defining Patient and Human Experience.

  "https://theberylinstitute.org/defining-patient-experience/".
- 146. Quality AfHRa What is patient experinece? "<a href="https://www.ahrq.gov/cahps/about-cahps/patient-experience/index.html">https://www.ahrq.gov/cahps/about-cahps/patient-experience/index.html</a>".
- 147. Ozcelik AB, Varnali K, Burnaz S. A holistic framework for patient experience: 5P model.

  International Journal of Pharmaceutical and Healthcare Marketing 2021.
- 148. Oben P. Understanding the Patient Experience: A Conceptual Framework. J Patient Exp 2020;7(6):906-10.
- 149. De Rosis S. Performance measurement and user-centeredness in the healthcare sector: Opening the black box adapting the framework of Donabedian. Int J Health Plann Manage 2024;39(4):1172-82.
- 150. Cleary PD. Evolving Concepts of Patient-Centered Care and the Assessment of Patient Care Experiences: Optimism and Opposition. J Health Polit Policy Law 2016;41(4):675-96.
- 151. Friedel AL, Siegel S, Kirstein CF, et al. Measuring Patient Experience and Patient Satisfaction-How Are We Doing It and Why Does It Matter? A Comparison of European and U.S. American Approaches. Healthcare (Basel) 2023;11(6).
- 152. OECD. Patient experience with ambulatory care; 2018.
- 153. administration UFaD. Assessment of the Use of Patient Experience Data in Regulatory Decision-Making; 29/06/2021.
- 154. Bull C, Byrnes J, Hettiarachchi R, Downes M. A systematic review of the validity and reliability of patient-reported experience measures. Health Serv Res 2019;54(5):1023-35.

- 155. Wolf JA, Niederhauser V, Marshburn D, SL L. Reexamining "Defining Patient Experience": The human experience in healthcare. Patient Experience Journal. 2021; 8(1):16-29. doi: 10.35680/2372-0247.1594. 2021.
- 156. Wolf JA, Niederhauser V, Marshburn D, SL. L. Defining Patient Experience. Patient Experience Journal. 2014; 1(1):7-19. doi: 10.35680/2372-0247.1004. 2014.
- 157. Havana T, Kuha S, Laukka E, Kanste O. Patients' experiences of patient-centred care in hospital setting: A systematic review of qualitative studies. Scand J Caring Sci 2023;37(4):1001-15.
- 158. Kumah E, Osei-Kesse F, Anaba C. Understanding and Using Patient Experience Feedback to Improve Health Care Quality: Systematic Review and Framework Development. J Patient Cent Res Rev 2017;4(1):24-31.
- 159. Lauren C, Michelle M, Harprit S, Kerry K. The use of patient experience data for quality improvement in hospitals: A scoping review. Patient Experience Journal; 2022.
- 160. Bastemeijer CM, Boosman H, van Ewijk H, et al. Patient experiences: a systematic review of quality improvement interventions in a hospital setting. Patient Relat Outcome Meas 2019;10:157-69.
- 161. Karimbux N, John MT, Stern A, et al. MEASURING PATIENT EXPERIENCE OF ORAL HEALTH CARE: A CALL TO ACTION. J Evid Based Dent Pract 2023;23(1s):101788.
- 162. Rand L, Dunn M, Slade I, Upadhyaya S, Sheehan M. Understanding and using patient experiences as evidence in healthcare priority setting. Cost Effectiveness and Resource Allocation 2019;17(1):20.
- 163. Institute B Experience framework. "https://theberylinstitute.org/experience-framework/".
- 164. NHS. NHS Patient Experience Framework.
- 165. Philpot LM, Khokhar BA, DeZutter MA, et al. Creation of a Patient-Centered Journey Map to Improve the Patient Experience: A Mixed Methods Approach. Mayo Clin Proc Innov Qual Outcomes 2019;3(4):466-75.
- 166. Staniszewska S, Boardman F, Gunn L, et al. The Warwick Patient Experiences Framework: patient-based evidence in clinical guidelines. Int J Qual Health Care 2014;26(2):151-7.

- 167. Ozcelik AB, Varnali K, Burnaz S. A holistic framework for patient experience: 5P model. International Journal of Pharmaceutical and Healthcare Marketing 2021;15(4):516-33.
- 168. Staniszewska S, Boardman F, Gunn L, et al. The Warwick Patient Experiences Framework: patient-based evidence in clinical guidelines. International Journal for Quality in Health Care 2014;26(2):151-57.
- 169. U.K Go. A framework for NHS patient experinece. In: Care DoHaS, editor; 21 Februarery 2012.
- 170. Dubé-Linteau A. Measuring patient experience through surveys: from concepts to best practices. In: Institut de la statistique du Québec Éed, editor; 2017.
- 171. Gerrard G, Jones R, Hierons R. How did we do? An investigation into the suitability of patient questionnaires (PREMs and PROMs) in three primary care oral surgery practices. British dental journal 2017;223(1):27-32.
- 172. Grossman S, Dungarwalla M, Bailey E. Patient-reported experience and outcome measures in oral surgery: a dental hospital experience. British Dental Journal 2020;228(2):70-74.
- 173. Karimbux N, John MT, Stern AMY, et al. MEASURING PATIENT EXPERIENCE OF ORAL HEALTH CARE: A CALL TO ACTION. Journal of Evidence-Based Dental Practice 2023;23(1, Supplement):101788.
- 174. Stewart M, Partridge R, Geddis-Regan A. Understanding Older People's Experiences of Oral Health Care. In: Doshi M, Geddis-Regan A, editors. Oral Health and Dental Care in the Ageing Population. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2022. p. 41-58.
- 175. Sbaraini A, Carter SM, Evans RW, Blinkhorn A. Experiences of dental care: what do patients value? BMC Health Services Research 2012;12(1):177.
- 176. Ardenghi DM, Wyatt C. Exploring the views of relatives of frail elderly patients about participating in a geriatric dentistry program. Spec Care Dentist 2017;37(3):140-46.
- 177. Montreal) CCW-c. "https://www.ciussscentreouest.ca/".
- 178. Montreal) CCS-c. "https://ciusss-centresudmtl.gouv.qc.ca/".
- 179. Janto M, Iurcov R, Daina CM, et al. Oral Health among Elderly, Impact on Life Quality, Access of Elderly Patients to Oral Health Services and Methods to Improve Oral Health: A Narrative Review. J Pers Med 2022;12(3).

- 180. Grover S, Fitzpatrick A, Azim FT, et al. Defining and implementing patient-centered care: An umbrella review. Patient Educ Couns 2022;105(7):1679-88.
- 181. Wolff JL, Spillman BC, Freedman VA, Kasper JD. A National Profile of Family and Unpaid Caregivers Who Assist Older Adults With Health Care Activities. JAMA Intern Med 2016;176(3):372-9.
- 182. Aman Z, Liew SM, Ramdzan SN, Philp I, Khoo EM. The impact of caregiving on caregivers of older persons and its associated factors: a cross-sectional study. Singapore Med J 2020;61(5):238-45.
- 183. Wilkins VM, Bruce ML, Sirey JA. Caregiving Tasks and Training Interest of Family Caregivers of Medically Ill Homebound Older Adults. Journal of Aging and Health 2009;21(3):528-42.
- 184. Yang SX, Lo ECM, Leung KCM. Outreach dental care programme for older adults using long-term care services in Hong Kong: A qualitative study. Gerodontology 2024;41(1):141-48.
- 185. Juliana Valeria Gondro ME, Dana Ivancevic and Janine Clarke. Cost-related avoidance of oral health services. In: Canada S, editor; 2025.
- 186. Chen CC, Lin YJ, Lin YT. Awareness and utilization of preventive care services among the elderly under National Health Insurance. Int J Health Care Finance Econ 2013;13(3-4):247-60.
- 187. Patton MQ. Qualitative research & evaluation methods: integrating theory and practice. Fourth edition ed. Thousand Oaks, California: SAGE Publications, Inc.; 2015.
- 188. Hennink M, Kaiser BN. Sample sizes for saturation in qualitative research: A systematic review of empirical tests. Social Science & Medicine 2022;292:114523.
- 189. Lincoln YS, Guba EG. Naturalistic inquiry. Beverly Hills, Calif.: Sage Publications; 1985.
- 190. Lincoln Y, Guba E. But Is It Rigorous? Trustworthiness and Authenticity in Naturalistic Evaluation. New Directions for Program Evaluation 2004;1986:73-84.
- 191. (CIHR) CIoHR. Strategy for Patient-Oriented Research- Capacity Development Framework- 2015; 2015.
- 192. Lisa MV, Farrah J. Participatory Research Methods Choice Points in the Research Process. Journal of Participatory Research Methods; 2020.

- 193. Skovlund PC, Finderup J, Aabo S, et al. Recommendations for successful involvement of patient partners in complex intervention research: a collaborative learning process. Res Involv Engagem 2024;10(1):3.
- 194. Nguyen T, Graham ID, Mrklas KJ, et al. How does integrated knowledge translation (IKT) compare to other collaborative research approaches to generating and translating knowledge? Learning from experts in the field. Health Research Policy and Systems 2020;18(1):35.
- 195. Chandel T, Alulaiyan M, Farraj M, et al. Training and educational programs that support geriatric dental care in rural settings: A scoping review. Journal of dental education 2022;86(7):792-803.
- 196. Steele JG, Walls AW. Strategies to improve the quality of oral health care for frail and dependent older people. Qual Health Care 1997;6(3):165-9.
- 197. Bond C, Lancaster GA, Campbell M, et al. Pilot and feasibility studies: extending the conceptual framework. Pilot and Feasibility Studies 2023;9(1):24.
- 198. Penchansky R, Thomas JW. The concept of access: definition and relationship to consumer satisfaction. Med Care 1981;19(2):127-40.
- 199. Thorne SE. Interpretive description: qualitative research for applied practice. Second edition ed. New York, NY: Routledge; 2016.
- 200. Thompson Burdine J, Thorne S, Sandhu G. Interpretive description: A flexible qualitative methodology for medical education research. Med Educ 2021;55(3):336-43.
- 201. Thorne S, Kirkham SR, O'Flynn-Magee K. The Analytic Challenge in Interpretive Description. International Journal of Qualitative Methods 2004;3(1):1-11.
- 202. Kalengayi FKN, Hurtig A-K, Ahlm C, Ahlberg BM. "It is a challenge to do it the right way": an interpretive description of caregivers' experiences in caring for migrant patients in Northern Sweden. BMC Health Services Research 2012;12(1):433.
- 203. O'Brien BC, Harris IB, Beckman TJ, Reed DA, Cook DA. Standards for reporting qualitative research: a synthesis of recommendations. Acad Med 2014;89(9):1245-51.
- 204. Sutton J, Austin Z. Qualitative Research: Data Collection, Analysis, and Management. Can J Hosp Pharm 2015;68(3):226-31.
- 205. Saunders B, Sim J, Kingstone T, et al. Saturation in qualitative research: exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. Qual Quant 2018;52(4):1893-907.

- 206. Kiger ME, Varpio L. Thematic analysis of qualitative data: AMEE Guide No. 131. Med Teach 2020;42(8):846-54.
- 207. Miles MB, Huberman AM, Saldaña J. Qualitative data analysis: a methods sourcebook. Third edition ed. Thousand Oaks, Califorinia: SAGE Publications, Inc.; 2014.
- 208. Bernard HR, Ryan GW. Analyzing qualitative data: systematic approaches. Los Angeles [Calif.]: SAGE; 2010.

## **APPENDICES**

## 8.1 Appendix 1: Methodology

#### 8.1.1 Study Design

This qualitative study used an interpretive description approach. Introduced by Sally Thorne. This methodology helps to capture the nuances of patient experiences in the healthcare setting and generates evidence-based findings to inform clinical practice and decision-making. This flexible approach is relevant in developing evidence based insights that can inform practice and improve patient care. <sup>201, 202</sup>

We reported our data following guidelines of Standards for Reporting Qualitative Research.<sup>203</sup>

# 8.1.2 Study Settings and Description of the "Dent Ma Maison" Pilot Project

The Dent Ma Maison (DMM) project provided community-centered home-based oral healthcare services designed to meet the oral health care needs of seniors. It was a pilot project integrating oral health care services in the basket of frontline-home care services for seniors in Montreal, in the province of Quebec, in Canada. Developed in collaboration with key interested partners, including the Faculty of Dental Medicine and Oral Health Sciences of McGill University, the home care services program in two Quebec health institutions - CIUSSS (Integrated University Health and Social Services Centre)- CCOMTL (CIUSSS West-central Montreal) 177 and CCSMTL (CIUSSS South-central Montreal) <sup>178</sup>, and dental policy-makers from the Ministry of Health and Social services (MSSS). A patient partner was involved in the research component of this project. Each of these Quebec home care services programs is an interdisciplinary team including social workers, occupational therapists, specialized education technicians, physicians, and nurses and speech language pathologists. They were responsible for evaluating patients' needs and referring them to the dental staff. Among them, a case manager was responsible for connecting the patients to the dental team. Within the DMM project, oral healthcare services were provided free of charge by a dental team composed of a dentist working with her staff. Emergency examination, complete oral examinations, periodontal scaling and general oral prophylaxis, fluoride application, anterior and posterior composite restorations were included in the set of baskets of services. Prosthesis fabrication was excluded from the basket of services, while prosthesis rebasing, relining, adjustment, cleaning and polishing or prosthesis were included.

#### 8.1.3 Sampling and Participants

Purposeful sampling was used to identify and recruit participants for data collection. <sup>187, 204</sup> The study participants were recruited with the assistance of dentist involved in the DMM project and case managers, they identified participants for the study based on their cognitive abilities and their capacity to engage in the interviews. Then, a pool of seniors received oral health care from DMM project. For participants with severe cognitive impairments, their informal caregivers served as proxies for the interviews.

#### Inclusion criteria

All patients with middle or severe cognitive and physical issues and with an oral health need were eligible to receive the oral healthcare services under the DMM project. However, they should be able to speak in French or in English to be considered in the research.

#### Exclusion criteria

Seniors below the age of 65 years were not considered, even though they received home-based oral healthcare services under the project. Even though our criteria were very well defined and presented to the clinical teams, the dental staff received few referrals for patients under 65 years, who have received some oral healthcare services. In addition, people who were not fluent to speak in French or English were excluded.

#### **8.1.4 Data Collection**

We consulted the patients' records to describe the oral healthcare services provided. For the second objective, two bilingual tools were used for data collection: a sociodemographic survey and an interview guide. The bilingual sociodemographic survey could be completed by the patient before or during the interview. It consisted of a set of eight questions regarding age, gender, ethnicity, the elder's disability and the participating sites. The bilingual interview guide was developed based on existing literature and the research team's expertise. It was reviewed by the members of the research team, including the patient partner, to ensure the relevance and the clarity of questions, as well as its length. It consisted of 14 open-ended questions with probes. We offered some accommodation during the interviews with seniors, such as doing it in two parts, giving breaks to participants, conducting interviews of their informal caregivers as proxies if the person was interested and available, or if the senior was comfortable with the attendance of the caregiver.

We have conducted 11 semi-structured, telephonic, individual and/or dyadic interviews between June 2023 to October 2023, via the Cisco Webex application (cloud-based platform for conference calls in private meeting rooms. Each telephonic interview approximately lasted up in average 45 minutes and was audio-recorded. Interviews were conducted until data saturation was reached, meaning no new or emergent information would add value to the project.<sup>205</sup>

#### 8.1.5 Data Analysis

Descriptive analysis was conducted to describe the participants, and the basket of services offered under the DMM project. In addition, an inductive thematic qualitative analysis was manually performed involving transcription, translation of interviews, multiples readings, codification, recodification, debriefing, data display and interpretation. 187, 204, 206

All audio-recorded interviews were deidentified to ensure participants' anonymity. Each patient participant was considered as the unit of analysis. Transcripts were read multiple times to become more familiar with data and initial codes were generated. Then, within each of these categories of data, we used an interpretive-description approach to analyze quotes inductively to develop subthemes in each construct.<sup>207, 208</sup>

To ensure credibility and trustworthiness, transcripts were independently reviewed by two members (GA, PKT) and a preliminary list of codes was developed. The memos were used to record the thought processes and decisions made of the members, thereby creating audit trail to ensure the rigor of the research and reflexivity. <sup>190, 189</sup> A multiple coding process was to increase reliability. <sup>207, 208</sup> Differences in interpretation were resolved by discussion until common consensus was achieved.

#### **8.1.6 Ethics**

Ethical approval was received from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of McGill University as well as from the participating sites (IRB study number A05-B57-22 / eRAP 22-05-048). The participation was totally voluntary. Informed written consent was obtained from all study participants.

## 8.2 Appendix 2: Consent Form

## **Title of the study: Dent Ma Maison**

Integration of oral health care into primary home health care for frail elderly/community dwelling elders home.

You are invited to participate in a research project. This study is being conducted to explore the experience of those involved in the implementation of Dent Ma Maison, a model of home-based oral health care at CCOMTL/CCSMTL. Before agreeing to participate in this project, please take the time to carefully read the information below. This consent form explains the purpose of the study, the nature of your participation, the benefits, advantages, risks and disadvantages, and your rights.

This consent form may contain words that you do not understand. If you have any questions related to your involvement in the project, you are invited to contact the principal investigator (Dr. Pascaline Kengne Talla) of this research project (or a member of the research team). You do not have to take part in this study if you do not wish to. Your acceptance or refusal to participate in the study will not affect your career or professional relationships.

## Nature and Objectives of the Study

A growing number of elderly people aspire to "Age at Home" and receive health care services in their own environment. However, the current organization of home care in Quebec/Canada does not include oral care as a set of health care services. Concerned by it, this pilot demonstration project, called "Dent Ma Maison" is a model for the organization and delivery of oral health care at home to the population aged 65 years and older, who are not able to travel to receive oral health care. This study proposes to evaluate an innovative model centered on the needs and realities of patients and their caregivers, as well as the key knowledge users. Thus, this project aims to: 1) describe the portrayal of elders' oral health needs and evaluate the gain produced by the implementation of Dent Ma Maison in terms of improvement of oral health perceived by elders/caregivers and stakeholders; 2) evaluate the acceptability of Dent Ma Maison model on three levels (micro, meso, macro); and 3) identify the barriers and facilitators for the implementation of Dent Ma Maison model.

This project involves two participating sites, the CIUSSS du Centre-Ouest-de-l'Île-de-Montréal and the CIUSSS du Centre -Sud-de-l'île de Montréal. The participants are the users of home-based care (HC) of the Soutien à l'autonomie des personnes âgées (SAPA) program, their caregivers, clinicians, decision-makers, policymakers and the dental team that provides home-base oral care. Therefore, you are invited to participate in this project in one of these capacities. Please note that the acceptance or refusal to participate in this study will not impact on the care and services you receive, nor the existing therapeutic relationships with the dental team or care team.

## Process of the Research Project

You are invited to participate in a 45-60 minute in-person or remote interview (by phone or through an electronic platform such as Teams or Zoom/Cisco Webex) with or without your caregiver. During the interview, we will ask you a series of open-ended questions about: 1) your experience with the home-based oral health care model (perception, relevance, expectations, interaction, communication with dental and HC teams involved, satisfaction with the care delivery model); 2) your experience with the oral health-related quality of life (e.g., masticatory status, nutritional status, functional status, etc.) and previous experience regarding the access to care (ex. last dental appointment, duration of appointment, previous oral care services); 3) benefits, barriers, enablers, strategies and suggestions for the implementation and the sustainability of Dent Ma Maison model.

Data collection will be conducted by the principal investigator or a research assistant with experience in conducting interviews and trained by the principal investigator.

Audio recording of interviews This research involves audio recordings of individual interviews. This recording will be led by the research team who will use either a recorder or an electronic platform such as Teams or Zoom or Cisco Webex. We will use audio recordings primarily for research purposes and to improve the flow of interviews, as it can be practically difficult at the same time to follow- you and take notes of everything said during the meeting. However, you do not have to consent to the recording to participate in this project. If you do not consent to this, the data will be collected in other ways, specifically through notetaking only.

<u>Socio-Demographic Questionnaire:</u> You are also invited to fill -out a socio-demographic data questionnaire, either before the day of the interview or on the day of the interview. If you complete it before the day of the interview, you will be asked to submit it electronically. This activity will take approximately a maximum of 5 minutes of your time.

Examples of questions included in the socio-demographic questionnaire could be:

- Can you indicate your sex assigned at birth? Which gender do you identify with most?
- Do you identify yourself as a person living with a disability? What age group do you belong to? What is the sector related to the CIUSSS where you received home based oral health care?

<u>Dental Record</u>: This study requires consulting your dental record archived in a secure server at the Faculty of Dentistry of McGill University, available to the dental team. We would like to access the information needed to conduct the research project (Aim 1 of the study) on your dental status, dental procedures performed, as well as unmet needs. For instance, data extracted from your dental record could be:

- Number of teeth in the mouth,
- Number of missing teeth.
- Number of teeth treated.
- Number and nature of treatments carried out,
- Number and nature of unmet needs.

This information from your dental record will be used for research purposes only and with your permission. If you do not want the research team to consult your dental records, you can still participate in the study. It is also possible to give your consent to consult your dental records, without participating in the research project.

There is a possibility that we may contact you after the interview for further clarification on questions that were not fully developed.

**Table: Research Project Process (activities in which you will participate)** 

Research activities	Frequency	Duration	By whom	Where	Audio recording
Individual interview	1	45-60 minutes	Research team	At your home or virtually	X
Socio-demographic questionnaire	1	5 minutes	Yourself	At your home	No

<u>Duration of Participation in the Study:</u> Your participation consists of giving 45-60 minutes of your time for a research interview.

What is Expected from You: As a research participant in this study, we invite you to:

- Complete a socio-demographic data questionnaire that will takes 5 minutes of your time
- Participate in a 45-60 minutes in-person or remote individual interview.

Risks and Disadvantages: There are no anticipated major physical, psychological, or confidentiality risks associated with your participation in this research project as it only involves questions asked during an interview. You may find the interview long, but short breaks will be taken in order for you to feel comfortable sharing your experience. Some questions may create unexpected emotions for you. If this occurs, some strategies will be done to mitigate potential harm or distress. You will be invited to discuss these emotions/distress with a member of the research team who will either give you a break, stop the interview or make other arrangements to deal with the situation, i.e., skipping the question. A member of the research team will be able to assist you or direct you to the appropriate resource needed. You are always free to decline to answer any question.

Information about you will be collected electronically, using devices, applications, and data transfer and storage tools over the Internet. The researcher responsible for this research is committed to protecting your personal data (see the "Privacy" section below).

<u>Potential Benefits:</u> You will not benefit personally from participating in this study. However, your contribution to the research project will be beneficial in analyzing the feasibility of this pilot study and potentially improving the implementation of this new innovative model of oral health care and services. In addition, you will be able to contribute to the advancement of the science of integrating oral care into primary care services, as well as improving the deployment potential of this model of care delivery. Ultimately, you will contribute to the final goal of improving access to care, quality of service, and health equity.

<u>Conflict of Interests:</u> The researcher responsible for this study has no conflicts of interest to declare, nor do the other members of the research team.

<u>Compensation</u>: You will not be compensated for your participation in this research project.

<u>In Case of Prejudice</u>: By agreeing to participate in this study, you do not waive any of your rights. Furthermore, you do not release the research team or the institution from their civil and

professional responsibilities. If you are harmed in any way as a result of any activity related to this research project, you will receive the care and services you require.

## **Confidentiality:**

<u>Data collection</u>: During your participation in this research project, the principal investigator as well as the research team will collect, in a research file, data about you that is necessary to meet the scientific objectives of the research project.

<u>Use of Technology and the Internet</u>: During your participation in the study, data (information) about you will be collected electronically, using devices, applications, and Internet-based data transfer and storage tools. All technological tools (e.g., devices, applications, cameras) and means that will be used to collect, transfer, analyze and store data from research participants will follow a data security plan established by the principal investigator. This person is qualified to do so and to manage this data in a secure manner. Although the researcher responsible be committed to protecting your data by taking all possible precautions to avoid a breach of confidentiality related to the use of these technologies, it cannot be guaranteed that these safeguards will be 100% effective.

<u>Participant access to the research file:</u> You have the right to access your research file to verify the collected information and correct them, if necessary, until the data analysis begins. However, to do so, you must submit a request by email to the principal investigator.

<u>Data access</u>: For purposes of surveillance, control, protection and security, your research file may be reviewed by persons authorized by the Research Ethics Board of CIUSSS du Centre-Ouest-de-l'Île-de-Montréal, CIUSSS du Centre-Sud-de-l'île de Montréal or McGill University. These individuals will have access to your personal research data but will adhere to a confidentiality policy.

<u>Coding:</u> All data collected (including personal information) will be kept confidential to the extent permitted by law. You will be identified only by a code number. The code key (list) linking your name to your research file will be kept separate from other information collected by the principal investigator. The file containing this list will be password-protected (encrypted) and stored on a secure server under lock and key in a password-protected computer and secure server at McGill University. This computer is available in the office of the principal investigator for a period of 10

years after the end of the study, in accordance with the policies in effect at the CCOMTL/CCSMTL, after which they will be permanently destroyed.

<u>Transcribers:</u> Transcription of the interview recordings will be done by members of the research team. However, we may use the services of a transcriber for the information contained in the audio recordings in a written format. The audio files and documents will be transferred securely. This person must keep your information confidential and destroy it securely. This person will sign a confidentiality agreement with the research team.

## Future Use of Data, Communication and Publication of Research Results

<u>Future use of data:</u> There is no future use of the data that is anticipated for this project. The data collected will be used only for the purposes intended and stated in the objectives of the project.

Communication and publication of research results: This research will present its results in the form of reports, publications and other research communications that may or may not contain quotes from research participants. Although these quotes do not directly identify you, it is possible that their content may contain unique details that would allow people who know you to identify you. In such a case, these elements would be modified to protect your identity. We will take all necessary steps to ensure that you will not be identified, for example by using a code or pseudonyms. You can obtain a summary of the results of the research study when it becomes available by indicating your choice to the research team during the interviews.

<u>Volunteer Participation and Right of Withdrawal:</u> Your participation in this research project is voluntary and ongoing. You are free to refuse to participate. You may withdraw from this study at any time, without giving reasons, by informing the principal investigator or a member of the team.

If you withdraw from the research project, no further data will be collected. Information already collected as part of this study will nevertheless be retained, analyzed or used to ensure the integrity of the research project, as specified in this document, unless you ask us to destroy it before the analysis of the research data begins.

# **Identification of Resource-Person**

If you have any questions or problems related to your participation in this study, or if you wish to withdraw from the study, you can contact the researcher in charge or someone from the research team: Dr. Pascaline Kengne Talla, pascaline.kengnetalla@mcgill.ca

If you have any questions or concerns about your rights as a participant in this research project, or

if you have any complaints or comments, you may contact:

• The Local Service Quality and Complaints Commissioner of the CIUSSS du Centre-Ouest-

de-l'Île-de-Montréal at (514) 340-8222, extension 24222.

The Psychosocial Research Ethics Committee (PSY) of the CIUSSS du Centre-Ouest-de-l'Île-de-

Montréal REC has given its ethical approval to the research project and will ensure its follow-up

for the participating institutions in the Quebec health and social services network.

• The Local Service Quality and Complaints Commissioner of CIUSSS du Centre-Sud-de-

l'Île-de-Montréal

Ms. Céline Roy

4675 Belanger Street, Montreal, QC, H1T 1C2

Tel: 514 593-3600

Email: commissaireauxplaintes.ccsmtl@ssss.gouv.qc.ca

Contact information for complaints, concerns and recommendations related to research involving

human subjects at McGill University

• Associate Director, Research Ethics, Office of the Vice-Principal (Research and Innovation):

(514) 398-6831

• Human Research Ethics Officer, Faculty of Medicine, McGill University: Ms. IIde Lepore, at

514-398-8302 or by email at ilde.lepore@mcgill.ca

**8.2.1** Consent form for seniors

Title: Dent Ma Maison: Integration of oral health care into the primary home health care for frail

seniors/community dwelling seniors

I have read the information and consent form. The research project and the consent form were

explained to me. My questions have been answered, and I have been given time to decide. I will

be given a copy of this consent form signed by a member of the research team. By signing this

82

form, I understand that I am not waving my legal rights. My participation is voluntary, and I may withdraw from the study at any time without having to give reasons or face any consequences. My withdrawal from the study during the study will not affect any dental care my family member is receiving or in the future. Upon reflection, I agree to participate in this research project under the conditions stated herein

$\mathcal{C}$	, , ,	1 J		
conditions stated herein	1.			
• I agree to the a	audio recording of the individual interview	and/or the group discussion in		
which I will pa	rticipate.			
YES	NO	INTIALS		
• I would like to	receive a summary of the results of this stud	dy when they become available.		
YES	NO	INITIALS		
	researcher responsible for this research to other research projects.	contact me to ask my wishes to		
YES	NO	INITIALS		
Name of participant:				
Signature:		Date:		
Signature of person o	btaining consent:			
I have explained the re	search project and this information and con	sent form to the participant and		
have answered the que	stions he/she asked me.			
Name of person obtain	ing consent:			
Signature:		Date:		
Commitment of the re	esponsible researcher			
I certify that this inforr	nation and consent form has been explained	d to the participant and that any		
questions he or she has	have been answered.			
I agree with the resear	rch team to abide by what has been agree	d upon in the information and		
consent form and to give	ve a signed and dated copy to the participan	ıt.		
Name of the responsible	e researcher:			
Signature:		Date:		

#### Signature of a witness

YES NO NA

A witness signature is required for the following reasons:

- Difficulty or inability to read The person (impartial witness or family caregiver) signing below attests that the consent form has been read and that the project has been accurately explained to the participant, who appears to have understood it.
- Misunderstanding of the language of the consent form The person signing below acted as an interpreter (e.g., caregiver) for the participant during the consent process.

Name of witness:

Signature:	Date:
------------	-------

## **8.2.2** Consent form for caregivers

Title: Dent Ma Maison: Integration of oral health care into the primary home health care for frail seniors/community dwelling seniors

I have read the information and consent form. The research project and the consent form were explained to me. My questions have been answered, and I have been given time to decide. I will be given a copy of this consent form signed by a member of the research team. By signing this form, I understand that I am not waving my legal rights. My participation is voluntary, and I may withdraw from the study at any time without having to give reasons or face any consequences. My withdrawal from the study during the study will not affect any dental care my family member is receiving or in the future. Upon reflection, I agree to participate in this research project under the conditions stated herein.

• I agree to the audio recording of the individual interview and/or the group discussion in which I will participate.

YES NO INTIALS

I would like to receive a summary of the results of this study when they become available.
 YES
 NO
 INITIALS

• I authorize the res	earcher responsible for this rese	earch to contact me to ask my wishes to
participate in other	r research projects.	
YES	NO	INITIALS
Name of participant:		
Signature:		Date:
Signature of person obta	ining consent:	
I have explained the resear	rch project and this information	and consent form to the participant and
have answered the question	ns he/she asked me.	
Name of person obtaining	consent:	
Signature:		Date:
Commitment of the resp	onsible researcher	
I certify that this informati	on and consent form has been of	explained to the participant and that any
questions he or she has ha	ve been answered.	
I agree with the research	team to abide by what has be-	en agreed upon in the information and
consent form and to give a	signed and dated copy to the p	articipant.
Name of the responsible re	esearcher:	
Signature:		Date:
Signature of a witness		
YES	NO	NA
A witness signature is requ	uired for the following reasons:	
Difficulty or inability	to read - The person (imparti:	al witness or family caregiver) signing

• Difficulty or inability to read - The person (impartial witness or family caregiver) signing below attests that the consent form has been read and that the project has been accurately explained to the participant, who appears to have understood it.

•	Misunderstanding of the language of the consent form - The person	signing below acted as an
	interpreter (e.g., caregiver) for the participant during the consent pro	cess.
Na	me of witness:	
Sig	gnature:	Date:

# 8.3 Appendix 3: Sociodemographic Forms

# **8.3.1** Sociodemographic form for seniors

• 85 years and older

1.	Can you indicate your assigned sex at birth?
	• Male
	• Female
	• Prefer not to answer
2.	Please select the option that best describes you:
	• Female
	• Male
	• Gender-fluid, non-binary, and/or Two-Spirit
	• Prefer not to answer
	• Other, please specify
3.	Do you identify as an Aboriginal person, i.e. First Nation (North American Indian), Métis, o
	Inuk (Inuit)?
	• Yes
	• No
	Prefer not to answer
4.	Do you identify as a member of a visible minority in Canada?
	• Yes
	• No
	• Prefer not to answer
5.	Do you identify as a person with a disability?
	• Yes
	• No
	• Prefer not to answer
6.	Which age group do you belong to?
	• 65-74 years old
	• 75-84 years old

- 7. Where do you receive home health care?
  - Integrated Health and Social Services University Network for South Central Montreal (CIUSSS South-Central Montreal)
  - Integrated Health and Social Services University Network for West-Central Montreal (CIUSSS West-Central Montreal)
- 8. In which sector of this CIUSSS do you receive home based oral health care?
  - Jeanne-Mance sector (Faubourgs, Plateau-Mont Royal and Saint-Louis du Parc)
  - Verdun sector (Verdun, Côte Saint-Paul, Saint-Henri, Pointe Saint Charles)
  - Cavendish sector (CLSC Réné-Cassin, CLSC Benny Farm)
  - La Montagne sector (CLSC Métro, CLSC Par Extension, Parc Extension)

## 8.3.2 Sociodemographic form for caregivers

- 1. Can you indicate your assigned sex at birth?
  - Male
  - Female
  - Prefer not to answer
- 2. Please select the option that best describes you:
  - Female
  - Male
  - Gender-fluid, non-binary, and/or Two-Spirit
  - Prefer not to answer
  - Other, please specify\_\_\_\_\_\_\_
- 3. Do you identify as an Aboriginal person, i.e. First Nation (North American Indian), Métis, or Inuk (Inuit)?
  - Yes
  - No
  - Prefer not to answer
- 4. Do you identify as a member of a visible minority in Canada?
  - Yes
  - No

- Prefer not to answer
- 5. Do you identify as a person with a disability?
  - Yes
  - No
  - Prefer not to answer
- 6. Which age group do you belong to?
  - Less than 30 years old
  - 30-49 years old
  - 50-69 years old
  - Over 70 years old
- 7. Where does the client receive home health care?
  - Integrated Health and Social Services University Network for South Central Montreal (CIUSSS South-Central Montreal)
  - Integrated Health and Social Services University Network for West-Central Montreal (CIUSSS West-Central Montreal)
- 8. In which sector of this CIUSSS, did your elder receive home based oral health care?
  - Jeanne-Mance sector (Faubourgs, Plateau-Mont Royal and Saint-Louis du Parc)
  - Verdun sector (Verdun, Côte Saint-Paul, Saint-Henri, Pointe Saint Charles)
  - Cavendish sector (CLSC Réné-Cassin, CLSC Benny Farm)
  - La Montagne sector (CLSC Métro, CLSC Par Extension, Parc Extension)

## 8.4 Appendix 4: Interview Guides

# **8.4.1 Interview guide for seniors**

- 1. What can you tell me about your oral health?
- 2. Why did you use Dent Ma Maison services?

Probes: How did you hear about Dent Ma Maison?

3. Describe the services received through the Dent Ma Maison model.

Probes: transportation, infrastructure, type of services, quality and quantity of services

- 4. What were your expectations in receiving services from Dent Ma Maison model?
- 5. What groups of people should benefit from the Dent Ma Maison model?
- 6. Tell me about your experience with the Dent Ma Maison model

Probes:

- a. Continuity of services (communication, appointment scheduling, flexibility)
- b. Shared decision-making (involvement in the choice of oral care and services)
- c. Patient-centered care (understanding your needs, considering your opinion in treatment choices, answering your questions).
- d. Development of knowledge to better manage your dental and general health,
- e. Approach to care: availability, planning, scheduling, waiting time, follow-up, free services, comprehensive approach to health, or focus only on the oral cavity.
- 7. What are your benefits in using the Dent Ma Maison model?

*Probes: for you, for your caregiver(s)* 

8. What do you think of the current Dent Ma Maison model?

Probes: a set of services or services covered, need to improve?

- 9. What barriers have you encountered in receiving oral health care through Dent Ma Maison model?
- 10. What would you like to see in the future for the Dent Ma Maison model (ex. services, free of charge)?
- 11. How do you see the benefits of continuing the Dent Ma Maison model?

*Probes: the same as it looks now? with enhanced services?* 

12. What strategies do you see to improve the provision of home-based oral health care for frail seniors? And the general population?

13. Do you have any suggestions for improving the implementation of Dent Ma Maison model and its spread across the Quebec province?

## **8.4.2** Interview Guide for caregivers

- 1. What do you think of the Dent Ma Maison model for frail seniors living at home?
- 2. What are the impacts of the Dent Ma Maison model on the health of frail seniors?
- 3. What are the impacts of the Dent Ma Maison model for caregivers of frail seniors living at home?
- 4. What were your expectations in participating in the Dent Ma Maison model?
- 5. What groups of people should benefit from the Dent Ma Maison model?
- 6. What is your experience with the Dent Ma Maison model?

#### Probes:

- a. Continuity of services (communication, appointment scheduling, flexibility)
- b. Shared decision making (involvement in the choice of services and oral care)
- c. Patient-centered care (understanding your needs, considering your opinion in treatment choices, answering your questions)
- d. Development of knowledge to better manage your dental and general health,
- e. Approach to care: availability, planning, scheduling, waiting time, follow-up, free services, comprehensive approach to health or focus only on the oral cavity.
- 7. What are the benefits to you of using the Dent Ma Maison model?

*Probes: for you, for your caregiver(s)* 

8. What do you think about the current Dent Ma Maison model?

Probes: a set of services or services covered, need to improve?

- 9. What would you like to see in the future for the Dent Ma Maison model (ex. services, free of charge)?
- 10. How do you see the benefits of continuing the Dent Ma Maison model?

Probes: with improved services

- 11. What strategies do you see to improve the provision of home-based oral health care for frail seniors? And the general population?
- 12. Do you have any suggestions for improving the implementation of Dent Ma Maison model? As well as its spread across the Quebec province?



# Formulaire de demande de renouvellement annuel de l'approbation d'un projet de recherche

Titre du protocole : DENT MA MAISON : Projet pilote pour l'intégration des soins et les services bucco-dentaires au panier de services de première ligne à domicile des aîné.e.s en perte d'autonomie

Numéro(s) de projet : MP-05-2023-3379

Identifiant Nagano: pktalla

Chercheur principal (au CER Éval) : Dr. Pascaline Kengne Talla

Date d'approbation du projet par le CER : 2022-11-17

Formulaire: F9H-47894

Date de dépôt initial du formulaire : 2024-10-

Date de dépôt final du formulaire : 2024-10-

31

Statut du formulaire : Formulaire approuvé

#### Revue et Décision-Bureau d'Examen de la Recherche

CCOMTL sous-comités du Comité d'éthique de la recherche

Psychosocial (Psysoc)

Période de renouvellement accordée:

2024-11-17 to 2025-11-17

Décision du CÉR:

Approuvée - Évaluation déléguée par le comité

Veuillez prendre note que cette approbation s'applique également aux établissements suivant:

CIUSSS-COMTL

CIUSSS-CSMTL

Date de la décision finale du CÉR et signature

2024-11-01

**Signature** 

Kathleen Blagrave

Spécialiste en activités cliniques Bureau d'examen de la recherché

CIUSSS du Centre-ouest-de-l'île-de-Montréal

on behalf of

Dr. Richard Margolese, C.M. MD FRCS

Chair Research Ethics Board

Chair - Medical Biomedical (MBM) Committee

CIUSSS du Centre-Ouest-de-l'île-de-Montréal

FWA 00000796

# Renseignements généraux

Indiquez, en français, le titre complet du projet de recherche.

DENT MA MAISON : Projet pilote pour l'intégration des soins et les services bucco-dentaires au panier de services de première ligne à domicile des aîné.e.s en perte d'autonomie

Indiquez, en anglais, le titre complet du projet de recherche

DENT MA MAISON: Pilot study about the Integration of oral health care and services in the primary home care for frail seniors

Indiquez le nom du chercheur responsable dans notre site (établissement)

Le chercheur responsable doit avoir une lettre lui donnant des privilèges de recherche et ses privilèges doivent êtres actifs (non expirés). Pour des informations sur les privilèges de recherche, cliquez sur ce lien

Kengne Talla, Pascaline

Y a-t-il des cochercheurs et/ou collaborateurs locaux qui collaborent au projet de recherche?

Non

Veuillez indiquer pour quelle instance vous souhaitez faire le renouvellement du projet

Pour l'ensembles des établissements (Seulement si vous êtes le chercheur principal dans tous les établissements)

Veuillez confirmer si la présente étude est un essai clinique relevant de Santé Canada pour lequel le recrutement est toujours en cours dans au moins 1 site participant au Québec.

Non

#### Informations de renouvellement

Date à laquelle le projet de recherche a commencé dans votre établissement:

2022-11-17

Date à laquelle le projet de recherche devrait se terminer à votre établissement:

Date déterminée

Veuillez indiquer la date de fin prévue du projet

30-11-2025

Depuis la dernière approbation du projet, cette date a-t-elle été modifiée?

Oui

Indiquez le statut actuel du projet de recherche dans votre établissement :

Projet en cours dont le recrutement et le suivi des participants sont terminé

Précisez, en quelques lignes, l'étape à laquelle le projet de recherche est rendu:

Writing manuscript.

Veuillez indiquer le type "participants" impliqué dans votre projet

Personnes

Nombre de participants à recruter initialement pour votre établissement selon le protocole et/ou le contrat

Nombre de participants qui ont effectivement été recrutés (ayant signé le FIC) :

Nombre de mineurs :

Nombre de majeurs inaptes :

Est-ce que des participants parmi ceux-ci ont été exclus sur la base des critères d'inclusion ou d'exclusion?

Est-ce que des participants parmi ceux-ci ont été retirés en cours de projet?

Non

Est-ce que des participants parmi ceux-ci ont abandonné leur participation en cours de projet?

Est-ce que des participants parmi ceux-ci sont décédés durant leur participation?

Nombre de participants dont la participation n'est pas terminée (suivi en cours actuellement) :

Nombre de participants ayant complété toutes les procédures de l'étude (suivi terminé) :

17

En fonction de ce que vous êtes responsable de déclarer, au cours de la dernière année et par rapport à la situation au moment du dernier renouvellement (ou approbation initiale) du CÉR:

Y a-t-il eu des modifications non rapportées au CÉR touchant les documents d'étude?

Non

Précisez la version actuelle :

V3

Date approuvée par le CER :

2023-11-17

Y a-t-il eu des problèmes non anticipés (PNA), réactions indésirables graves, déviations majeures ou autre événement ou information modifiant l'éthicité ou l'équilibre entre les risques et les bénéfices du projet n'ayant pas été rapporté au CÉR?

Y a-t-il eu une interruption temporaire du projet?

Les résultats du projet ont-ils été soumis pour publication, présentés ou publiés?

Le CÉR doit-il être avisé d'une situation de conflit d'intérêts (de toute nature) et touchant un ou plusieurs membres de l'équipe de recherche, qu'il ne connaissait pas au moment de sa dernière approbation du projet?

Oui

Veuillez préciser:

Exactement le CER doit en être avisé mais il n y a pas eu de situation de conflits d'intérêts.

Y a-t-il eu une allégation de manquement à l'éthique (ex: plainte d'un participant, non-respect des règles relatives à l'éthique ou à l'intégrité) concernant un ou plusieurs chercheurs?

Le promoteur exige-t-il la soumission des déviations mineures au protocole ou autre rapport n'identifiant pas d'impact sur la sécurité des participants ?

Non

#### Signature

Je certifie avoir examiné toutes les informations et tous les documents inclus dans ce formulaire et confirme qu'ils sont corrects et cohérents.

Dr. Pascaline Kengne Talla 2024-10-31 05:52